Quantitative Analysis of Fast C Bend Startle Response in Larval Zebrafish for the Evaluation of Behavioral Responses and Neuropharmacological Effects

^{by} Grant Burley

DISSERTATION Submitted in partial satisfaction of the requirements for degree of DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

in

Chemistry and Chemical Biology

in the

GRADUATE DIVISION of the UNIVERSITY OF CALIFORNIA, SAN FRANCISCO

Jason Sello	
	Chai
Jason Gestwicki	
Su Guo	
_	Jason Sello Jason Gestwicki Su Guo

Committee Members

Copyright 2024

by

Grant T Burley

EPIGRAPH

"Man is a worm and food for worms. This is the paradox: he is out of nature and hopelessly in it; he is dual, up in the stars and yet housed in a heart-pumping, breath-gasping body that once belonged to a fish and still carries the gill marks to prove it"

- Ernest Becker, The Denial of Death

Quantitative Analysis of Fast C Bend Startle Response in Larval Zebrafish for the Evaluation of Behavioral Responses and Neuropharmacological Effects

Grant T Burley

ABSTRACT

Larval zebrafish behavior profiling provides a rapid and accessible method to gather data on diverse behaviors with relevance to human health, but analyzing and quantifying this information can be challenging. For use in tandem with the UCSF larval zebrafish behavioral profiling system, an open-source platform for flexible, user-friendly behavior analysis, named "Fish Spectacles", was developed. This platform readily quantifies and visualizes the differences in behavioral phenotypes such as those for the fast C bend startle response. To demonstrate this approach in characterizing behaviors and perturbations from neuroactive molecules, a small collection of molecules was used to probe the fast C bend startle response. This collection included both characterized neuroactives as well as novel molecules based on the neuroactive amino acid scaffold. These novel molecules seek to improve the bioavailability by replacing the problematic carboxylic acid and primary amine groups with tetrazole and dimethylamine isosteres. Evaluation of behavioral responses revealed these new molecules were neuroactive and resembled their amino acid counterpart when one was tested. These findings underscore the utility of zebrafish behavior phenotyping for advancing the discovery of neuroactive small molecules.

bstract
ntroduction
Studying Behavior
Biosemiotics
Quantifying Behavior in the Lab
Ethology
Neuroethology6
Neuropharmacology
Animal Models
Larval Zebrafish Behavioral Profiling12
Results
Fish Spectacles Design13
Raw Behavioral Data14
Behavioral Profiling Experiments
Viewing Behavioral Data17
Primary Analysis of Behavioral Data18
Secondary Analysis of Behavioral Data23
viscussion
Accessible and Systematic Approach for Quantifying Larval Zebrafish Behaviora
Data
Potential for Machine Learning

TABLE OF CONTENTS

CHAPTER 1

Experimental	
Zebrafish Husbandry	
Molecules	
Fish Spectacles Source Code	
References	
CHAPTER 2	
Abstract	
Introduction	
Nervous System Organization	
Molecular Communication	
Neuroactive Small Molecule Development	
Bioavailability of Small Molecules	
New Neuroactive Small Molecules	
Results	
Multicomponent Reactions for Amino Acid Scaffold	<i>ls</i> 51
Synthesis of Amino Acid Tetrazoles	
Discussion	
Modular Synthesis Platform for the Amino Acid Sco	uffold54
Experimental	
Formylation of 1,1,3,3-tetramethylbutylamine	
Dehydration of 1,1,3,3-tetramethylbutylformamide	
General Ugi Tetrazole	

	Modified Ugi Tetrazole	56
	General Deprotection of Ugi Tetrazole Products	56
	Molecule Characterization	57
Refer	ences	59
CHAPTER 3	3	
Abstr	act	64
Introd	duction	64
	Evaluating Behavioral Effects of Neuroactive Molecules	64
	High Throughput Evaluation of Behavioral Phenotypes	65
	Novel Neuroactive Molecule Evaluation	66
	The Fast C Bend Startle Response as a Measure of Neuroactivity	67
Result	ts	70
	A Behavioral Battery to Evaluate the Fast C Bend Startle Response	70
	Evaluating a Collection of Neuroactive Molecules	70
	Changes in Fast C Bend Startle Responsiveness	71
	Changes in Fast C Bend Startle Pre-Pulse Inhibition	73
	Changes in Fast C Bend Startle Habituation	75
	Correlations in Activity	
Discus	ssion	79
	Effects of Biological Isosteres on the Amino Acid Scaffold	79
	Specificity in the Nervous System	79
Exper	rimental	80
	Zebrafish Husbandry	80

	Molecules	. 81
	Fish Spectacles Source Code	. 81
Refer	ences	. 82

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1.01: Skinner Box
Figure 1.02: Ethology of Bee Communication
Figure 1.03: The Fast C Bend Startle Response
Figure 1.04: Glutamate and Derivates 10
Figure 1.05: Behavioral Profiling System
Figure 1.06: Use of Fish Spectacles
Figure 1.07: Full Battery Motion Index for a Single Well of Six Fish
Figure 1.08: Four Technical Replicates of Six Fish per Well
Figure 1.09: Individual Motion Indices by Assay
Figure 1.10: Variable Calculations on Response Motion Indices
Figure 1.11: Technical Replicate Response Plot Side by Side
Figure 1.12: Behavior Effects of Etomidate Titration
Figure 1.13: Select Etomidate Concentrations on Responses During 10s Soft Tap Assay
Figure 1.14: Etomidate Concentration-Dependent Effects on Total Motion During the Background
Assay
Figure 1.15: Etomidate Concentration-Dependent Effects on Responses During Baseline Soft Tap
Assay
Figure 1.16: Responses and Rate of Change for 6.25 uM Etomidate Treatment
Figure 1.17: Effect of DCS on Responses During 5s Soft Tap Assay
Figure 1.18: 6.25 uM Etomidate-Treated Fish in the Pre-Pulse Inhibition Assay
Figure 1.19: Pre-Pulse Responses at Different Intervals for Increasing Numbers of Fish

Figure 1.20: Grouping Analysis Applied to Responsiveness Calculations for the Baseline Soft Tap
Assay
Figure 1.21: Grouping Applied to Different Responsiveness Calculations
Figure 2.01: Neuroactive Amino Acids and Derivates
Figure 2.02: Amine Removal From Neurotransmitters 46
Figure 2.03: Biological Isosteres of Carboxylic Acids and Amines
Figure 2.04: Calculated Physiochemical Properties of Amino Acids and Derivates 49
Figure 2.05: Multicomponent Reaction Mechanisms
Figure 2.06: Synthesis of Ugi Tetrazole Products
Figure 2.07: Yield of Final Products 53
Figure 3.01: Molecules Tested
Figure 3.02: Changes in Responsiveness 70
Figure 3.03: Changes in Pre-Pulse Inhibition
Figure 3.04: Increased Responses to MP3 Speaker Noise
Figure 3.05: Changes in Habituation for the 10s Soft Tap Assay73
Figure 3.06: Changes in Habituation for the 5s Soft Tap Assay74
Figure 3.07: Changes in Habituation for the 2.5s Soft Tap Assay

LIST OF TABLES

Table 2.01: Common Calculated Physiochemical Properties to Predict Bioavailability
--

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

UCSF : University of California, San Francisco

AMPA : α-amino-3-hydroxy-5-methyl-4-isoxazolepropionic acid

NMDA : N-methyl-D-aspartic acid

GABA : Gamma-aminobutyric acid

ACBC : aminocyclobutyl carboxylic acid

DCS : D-cycloserine

SUDAA : synthetic utility derivatives of amino acids

DCM : dichloromethane

TEA : triethylamine

POCl₃: Phosphorous oxychloride

TMS-azide : trimethylsilyl-azide

MeOH : methanol

PDF : portable document file

ms : milliseconds

EC₅₀ : half-effective concentration

nM: nanomolar

uM : micromolar

pKa : acid dissociation constant

cLogP : calculated hydrophobicity

tPSA : total polar surface area

MAO : monoamine oxidase

CHAPTER 1 : QUANTIFICATION OF LARVAL ZEBRAFISH BEHAVIOR

Abstract

Behavioral profiling has the potential to capture large amounts of information about the behaviors of larval zebrafish in a rapid and accessible manner. Analyzing and quantifying this information is much more challenging. Fish Spectacles is an open-source quantitative behavior analysis platform designed to work in tandem with UCSF's behavioral profiling system. Fish Spectacles presents a user friendly and flexible way to quantify a diverse range of behaviors, and outputs information about the analysis through text and .txt files or graphs and .pdf files. In demonstrating the use of Fish Spectacles, several different experiments treating fish with etomidate or cotreatment of etomidate and glutamatergic molecules are analyzed and visualized.

Introduction

Studying Behavior

The brain is the least understood organ. It takes in information about the environment through highly specialized sensory cells and produces characteristic responses in the form of movement or lack thereof. These processes of using information to produce behaviors in the brain remain largely unknown. How can we study the brain? Experimental approaches in humans have been largely unsuccessful due to factors such as individual differences, uncontrolled exposure to environmental stimuli, the complexity and scale of the human brain, and the challenges in measuring and predicting behavioral outputs. Consequently, much of our understanding of behavior is derived from studies conducted in non-human animals.

Biosemiotics

To understand the behavior of an animal, one must first consider the perspective of the animal. Every animal perceives its environment through its specialized sensory cells. The types of sensory cells an animal has and how these sensory cells gather information about the environment determines what an animal perceives. These modes of perceptions can vary greatly among animals. Consider the world of the female tick¹. She hatches from her egg ready to search for prey. Light triggers general photoreceptors on her skin to move in the direction of the light. This guides the tick to a high perch to wait for passing prey. As she waits, she is blind and deaf to approaching prey. Instead, she uses her sense of smell to detect butyric acid, a small molecule released by the skin of animals, to know when to launch from her perch. When she lands on an animal and the thermoreceptors on her body feel the warmth of the animal, she finds a hairless spot to attach and feed. Once she has fed and grown enough, she releases a scent and smells for the scent of a male. Upon finding a male, she mates and lays eggs, perpetuating this behavioral cycle. In this way, the perspective world of the female tick consists of the general detection of light, odor, and warmth. Her perceptions of these specific stimuli elicit corresponding behaviors: move toward light, jump towards butyric acid, feed towards warmth, and reproduce toward male tick smell. Therefore, studying animal behavior requires an understanding of both the stimuli animals detect and how the animals perceive the stimuli.

Quantifying Behavior in the Lab

In the United States, experimenters focused on this relationship between stimulus and behavior and the science of behaviorism emerged. This approach took the relationship to the extreme with ideas of the environment being the sole producer of behavior, behaviors being universal among animals, and the sole shaping of behaviors based on reward and punishment consequences^{2,3}. To test these ideas, scientists like B.F. Skinner focused on developing the first quantitative methods for studying behaviors in a controlled manner. Many of these methods pioneered experimental tools and apparatuses for delivering stimuli and measuring the response such as Skinner boxes (Figure 1.01). This quantitative approach to studying behavior produced much of our current knowledge of operant behaviors and conditional learning.



Ethology

In Europe, a different approach was taken to studying behavior. Scientists instead focused on studying the different types of behaviors between species, and this science developed into ethology⁴. Ethologists characterized the behavior itself as well as the environmental stimuli that would cause the behavior. They would then probe how the brains of the animals detect and respond to the environmental stimuli to produce the behavior. In this approach, they focused on studying animals in the natural environment and designing experiments in natural conditions to probe underlying behaviors. "Ethology is the science of interviewing an animal in its own language."-Nikolaas Tinbergen⁵. For example, Karl von Frisch devised experiments in the language of the bee by moving the hive and sources of food⁶. These experiments revealed how the bees use the Sun and the position of the hive to communicate the location of food with each other (Figure 1.02). This approach produced radically different ideas about the relationship between animals and behavior. Each species of animal was identified as having its own unique perceptions and behaviors, and only the stimulus from the natural environment was able to trigger authentic behaviors.

By studying a wide range of behaviors, ethologists discovered behaviors fall into specific categories. These behaviors share characteristics among the detection of stimulus and response to the stimulus. One type of behavior is fixed action patterns which are a well-defined movement in response to an environmental stimulus which are conserved among animals of the same species or higher taxonomy⁷. These behaviors have a stimulus threshold that once surpassed, the behavior is triggered, and the behavior will continue even if the inducing stimulus is removed. All animals are born knowing fixed action patterns, but they must learn how to improve the behavior. Some examples of fixed actions patterns include squirrel nut cracking, gulls removing eggshells from the nest, and human smiling⁸⁻¹⁰. Non-fixed action pattern behaviors include imprinting of newborn goslings on a "mother" and fully learned behaviors such as making tools by apes^{5, 9}. The characteristics of these fixed action patterns emerge as a result of the underlying biology.



Neuroethology

When ethologists began studying these types of behaviors more closely, they found types of behaviors have the same neural circuit structures, and each behavioral characteristic is the result of a property in the underlying neural circuit^{11, 12}. The types of stimuli that can trigger a behavior are determined by the particular sensory cells that are connected to the circuitry. The specificity in the stimulus, such as what noise is startling or normal, is set by the processing of information by neurons directly connected to the sensory cells, primary afferents, and interneurons connected to the primary afferents. The threshold of the stimulus represents the accumulation of multiple inputs

through different sensory cells, and the all or nothing response indicates the presence of command neurons or a command center in the brain which must be activated to trigger the behavior. Once command neurons or centers are activated, the motor neurons are irreversibly activated. Finally, the conservation of the behavior among members of a taxonomic order is representative of conserved genetic instructions for constructing the circuit.

An example of this type of neural circuit underlying fixed action patterns is the fast C bend startle response in larval zebrafish¹³⁻¹⁷. The fast C bend startle response is a "C" shaped movement by the fish in response to light, sound, and touch stimuli which match a startling characteristic¹⁸ (Figure 1.03a,b). After the fish are startled by a sufficient stimulus, the C bend movement occurs even if the stimulus is removed. The neural circuit underlying the fast C bend startle response includes connections to the eyes, inner ears, lateral line, and sensory neurons in the skin¹⁹⁻²⁴. The excitatory primary afferents and inhibitory interneurons determine specificity by only allowing "startling" stimuli to reach the command cells²⁵⁻²⁷. At the center of the neural circuit is a pair of command neurons, known as Mauthner cells (Figure 1.03a). They receive input from the primary afferents and if activated, stimulate a series of primary and secondary motor neurons to produce both the characteristic C motion and a subsequent swimming motion directly afterwards. The series of muscle movements that occur during this motion can be directly tied to patterns of activation of these primary and secondary motor neurons²⁸⁻³². These connections between the neural circuits and behavior provided a powerful approach to answering questions about behavior and developed into its own field of neuroethology. Other active areas of neuroethology include bird song, and odor responses in worms^{33, 34}.



the Mauthner cells and following characteristic C shape. (B) 6.25 uM Etomidate-treated larval zebrafish recorded with a high-speed camera. Adapted from Zebrafish behavioural profiling identifies GABA and serotonin receptor ligands related to sedation and paradoxical excitation⁶⁰

Neuropharmacology

These biologies provide powerful approaches and tools for understanding behavior. Much has been learned about the organization of neural circuits and the connection between neural circuits and behavior. While this is a wealth of information, it does not provide insight to the molecular mechanisms in neural circuits. Molecular mechanisms remained unidentified until small molecules with specific effects were discovered, often by accident through their behavioral impacts, and these neuroactive compounds were subsequently used to investigate neural circuits.

A prime example of this is the molecule iproniazid. Iproniazid was first used as an antibiotic to treat tuberculosis, but its behavioral effects were discovered when depressed tuberculosis patients recovered from both conditions simultaneously³⁵. Investigating how this molecule could affect behavior in such a way, its molecular target of monoamine oxidases and the role of monoamine oxidases in the brain was uncovered. This role of monoamine oxidase led to the development of a whole class of monoamine oxidase inhibitors as antidepressants.

The role of glutamate in the brain was discovered in a similar manner. It was observed that injecting glutamate into the brains of animals caused seizures, indicating a neuroactive role³⁶. This led to the evaluation of chemical derivates and natural products with bioorthogonal functionality to glutamate. These derivates, alpha-amino-3-hydroxy-5-methyl-4-isoxazolepropionic acid (AMPA), kainic acid, N-methyl-D-aspartic acid (NMDA), and others, did not fully represent the glutamate phenotype but were able to accurately capture specific parts of the phenotype³⁷⁻⁴⁰ (Figure 1.04). Studying these molecules revealed specific types of glutamate receptors, each with unique molecular mechanisms and functions in the brain. Without these chemical investigations, these receptors would not have been discovered.



The large majority of neuroactive molecules were discovered in the mid-1900's. These produced a wealth of knowledge on both understanding behaviors and treating neurological diseases. Since then, the discovery of new classes of neuroactives has significantly slowed⁴¹. With the rapid advancement of target centered approaches possibly along with the simple and direct scientific narratives they bring, target centered approaches now dominate the field of drug discovery. They excel at developing molecules against known targets but cannot discover new targets and mechanisms which is needed for behavioral discovery, unless this happens by accident^{42, 43}. To both further our understanding of molecular mechanisms in behavior and develop effective neuroactive therapeutics, new chemical matter needs to be evaluated for specific behavioral phenotypes.

Animal Models

Generally, behaviors are investigated for their relevance to human behaviors since humans are difficult to study. Thus, the animal being used must have analogous behaviors and neural circuitry. The most common animals used are rodents. These mammals are close evolutionary relatives of humans and share many commonalities in neural circuits and behaviors. Behaviors relating to analgesia, depression, anxiety, learning and memory, substance abuse, and others are used to evaluate the effects of small molecules. While useful, these experiments take long amounts of time to perform and only a limited amount of chemical matter can be evaluated. These facts greatly limit behavioral discovery using rodents.

An alternative behavioral animal model is larval zebrafish. While not mammals, these vertebrates have all the same neurotransmitters as humans and have analogous brain regions to humans⁴⁴. As a result, not only do they have many analogous behaviors, but they also share many neuropharmacological phenotypes with humans. The effects of antipsychotics, antidepressants, and hypnotics on zebrafish and humans are similar⁴⁵⁻⁴⁹. The real advantage of larval zebrafish is their rate of development, size, and high numbers produced from breeding. These animals hatch and are able to swim at four days post-fertilization, and by seven days post-fertilization they have a wide behavioral repertoire including hunting food and conditional learning^{49, 50}. At seven days post-fertilization, these animals are approximately four millimeters in length which allows for easy experimental manipulation. For example, up to ten of these animals can fit in the well of a 96-well plate. These properties allow rapid experimentation for insights relevant to humans, and with this animal model, behaviors can be evaluated in a systematic and quantitative manner.

Larval Zebrafish Behavioral Profiling

Larval zebrafish behaviors are commonly studied through video analysis before follow-up experimentation on the neural circuit underlying the behavior. One of the first behaviors to be studied, the fast C bend startle response, the behavioral characteristics was used to identify the role of Mauthner cells and the circuit itself. Since then, this approach has been expanded to a wide range of behaviors including light responses, seizures, and circadian behaviors. Given the ease of experimentation of larval zebrafish, these behaviors can be evaluated in a high throughput manner to test a range of conditions. In this aim, behavioral profiling systems were developed for the high throughput evaluation of larval zebrafish behaviors⁵¹⁻⁵³.

These behavioral profiling systems have allowed side by side comparisons of different conditions on specific behaviors. Evaluating different genetic, environmental, and small molecule conditions on these behaviors has revealed insights into the workings of the behavior and the neural circuit underlying it. Given this potential, a larval zebrafish behavioral profiling system was developed at UCSF^{54, 55}. This system holds a 96-well plate on a stage underneath a high-speed camera (Figure 1.05). Various types of stimuli are played to the animals though lights, speakers, and solenoids on the stage while recording, and the video is analyzed by cropping the wells and calculating a motion index from the frame-by-frame pixel intensity differences for each well. This information is then stored in a database for subsequent access and analysis.

To evaluate behaviors using this system, stimuli played to the fish are grouped into assays designed to evaluate a specific response, and assays are grouped together into batteries capable of evaluating multiple types of responses in a single experiment. In previous approaches, these responses have been successfully used to predict and discover molecular interactions in behavior using custom analysis scripts. To advance experimentation and quantitative methods for diverse behavioral profiling, the Fish Spectacles platform was developed.



Figure 1.05 Behavioral Profiling System. (A) photograph of system. Experimental workflow of plating larval zebrafish six fish per well in a 96-well plate (B), treating the animals with drugs (C), using the profiling system (D), calculating the motion index (E), and visualizing the results (F).

Results

Fish Spectacles Design

Fish Spectacles is an open-source, user-friendly, lightweight, and flexible analysis application written in Python for analyzing data from the behavioral profiling system. It is fully open source and designed to prioritize user accessibility and data analysis flexibility while maintaining lightweight Python files with minimum requirements. If a user is able to collect raw data, download the application, place the data in the correct folders, and open Fish Spectacles from the terminal, no further knowledge of the code or Python is needed to complete an analysis (Figure 1.06). The platform uses a terminal prompt with functionality to check user input against correct

options and reprompt the user when needed to collect information from the user on how to visualize and/or analyze the data.



Raw Behavioral Data

When analyzing raw data, it is important to remember how the number relates to the measured quantity. Our behavioral profiling system captures the motion of the animals in 96-well plates by evaluating differences in pixel intensities frame by frame in the video recorded during the experiment. While information about the shape of the fish, shape of fish movements, and contributions of individual larvae when more than one is present in a well is lost in the course of analysis, the bulk behavior is still readily discernible.

It is also critical to realize the relationship between the quantified motion index value and the number of fish is limited by the area of the well. This relationship is maximized when the area of the well is half covered by fish and each fish moves to a new location in the other half. When fewer fish are in a well, not all the pixels will change, and the motion index will be lower. When more fish are in a well, some of the area previously covered by a fish will again be covered by a fish and the motion index value will be lower. Inherent to the maximum motion index condition, it occurs when the fish respond simultaneously. If responses are staggered, the corresponding motion in the well will be distributed over more frames. The motion index changes from a single peak for the simultaneous response to a broadened peak for staggered responses.

Finally, the frame rate of the camera is important in the quantification of the motion index. The frame rate must be sufficiently fast to capture the responses of the animals. Specifically, it must be fast enough to capture a frame during the response motion of the animals to the stimulus. This requirement can be variable depending on the behavior. The fastest of these behaviors in larval zebrafish is the fast C bend startle response. This behavior occurs within 10 ms after the stimulus is played to the animals. To be able to capture this behavior on a motion index, the camera must capture at least one frame every 10ms or 100 frames per second. Information about motion that occurs within the frame rate, 10ms for 100 fps, is not captured.

The information retained by the motion index is solely the movement occurring per frame in the well, and despite the information lost, it is still highly informative on the behaviors and responses of animals as shown in previous publications. With the quantified motion index, the information is stored by assigning each plate an experiment or "run" number and creating a table with rows for each well in the plate and columns for any information with that well, along with the list of motion index values. These lists are as long as there are frames in the recorded video, meaning a 10-minute experiment recorded at 100 fps produces approximately 60,000 motion index values. Information about the assays and stimuli played to the animals is saved as the assay or stimulus name and the time it started and stopped under a battery number in two respective files. To analyze and visualize the full results of the experiment, this information must be combined.

Behavioral Profiling Experiments

To demonstrate Fish Spectacles, three simple experiments were performed evaluating the enhanced acoustic responsiveness of larval zebrafish when treated with the sedative etomidate. Etomidate promotes the fast C bend startle response as identified by the characteristic response within 10 milliseconds (ms) and C shape motion. The first experiment used six fish per well and compared untreated fish to those treated with various concentrations of etomidate. The second evaluated the effect of a NMDA receptor ligand, D-cycloserine⁵⁷⁻⁵⁹, on the habituation phenotype, and the final experiment compared different numbers of fish per well on the response of the animals when they were treated with etomidate.

To evaluate the acoustic responsiveness, a custom battery was designed to capture four behavioral characteristics: general movement, acoustic responsiveness, pre-pulse inhibition, and habituation. This was done with four types of assays. The first type, background assay, is the simplest, and it plays no stimuli to the animals for two minutes. This records the baseline activity of the animals before and after assays. Acoustic responsiveness is measured with four soft solenoid taps played every 30 seconds to evaluate how the animals are responding to the acoustic stimulus. This soft solenoid tap produces an acoustic stimulus capable of inducing the fast C bend startle response⁶⁰. The pre-pulse inhibition is measured by the ability of a non-behavior inducing stimulus to inhibit a triggering stimulus. In this case, a soft speaker noise to which the fish do not respond was played at a range of 100 ms intervals before a soft tap stimulus: simultaneous, 100 ms, 200 ms, 300 ms, 400 ms, 500 ms, 600 ms, 700 ms, 800 ms, and 900 ms. It is important to note, while the software triggers the speaker and soft tap simultaneously, they do not play to the animals simultaneously. The speaker plays noise more readily from electronic signals than the soft tap and

it is expected to play slightly before the soft tap when triggered at the same time (~5 ms). For the habituation, several assays were designed playing a soft solenoid tap at various intervals to induce habituation of the fast C bend startle response. The fish begin habituating when taps are played every 10s and habituate quicker as the rate of tapping increases. Thus, three habituation assays of different intervals, 10s, 5s, and 2.5s were used to visualized changes in habituation.

Viewing Raw Behavioral Data

The most basic functionality of Fish Spectacle is the output of raw data. To capture data in a readable, permanent, and transportable format, text information is saved in text files and graphs are saved in portable document files (PDFs). Text information includes treatments and concentrations used in the experiment and assays, and stimuli played during the battery with their start and stop times. Graphs for raw information are motion index vs time plots. Fish Spectacles can generate this graph in various contexts. First, the plots of a single well of six fish untreated can be visualized (Figure 1.07a).

In addition to this raw motion index data, Fish Spectacles also reads the battery and assay data to gather when assays and stimuli were played to the animals. In the most basic visualization, the stimuli are overlaid on the motion index plots as vertical lines (Figure 1.07b). This overlay allows for a visual connection between the motion index values and the stimulus plays, and is useful for qualitative analysis of the behavioral responses. The battery for the current experiments is relatively simple, but other batteries have been developed with more stimuli to evaluate a wide range of responses.



Primary Analysis of Behavioral Data

These functionalities are useful, but conditions are typically performed in multiple technical replicates. Conditions are usually a drug treatment, and the treatment and concentration information is saved in the raw behavioral data. Fish Spectacles reads this information and sort the wells into treatment and concentration groups. These collections of motion index values can be overlaid on the same plot to visualize differences within the group (Figure 1.08a). Fish Spectacles also averages these motion index values together to generate an average trace for the condition (Figure 1.08b).



For some experiments, conditions are not drug treatments. An example is evaluating different numbers of fish per well for the effect on the measured response. Fish Spectacles accounts for this by being able to take in custom user-defined groupings. A user only needs to put in the name of the group and the well or list of wells in that group, and the platform can use this as input for sorting wells. Again, these groups of wells can be plotted with each individual well or averaged together. These motion index plots are useful for viewing how fish behave across the whole battery.

Fish Spectacles further analyzes this information. The battery information is used to identify the motion index values associated with each individual assay. These individual assays can be visualized (Figure 1.09). The responses to stimuli are identified as well, and they are quantified to a single value. This calculation is highly customizable and can calculate the mean, maximum, or sum of the motion index values. Each calculation is useful for different types of response analysis. The mean represents the average motion occurring during the stimulus window (Figure 1.10a). The maximum represents the greatest amount of motion that occurred in one frame (Figure 1.10b), and the sum represents the total motion that occurred during the stimulus time frame (Figure 1.10c). For each calculation, the relationship between the value and the standard deviation is unique. These differences in calculations are shown for averaged untreated fish during the baseline soft tap response assay. The unaveraged responses of groups or conditions can be



visualized as well. Using the maximum calculation, each response in the same group is plotted side by side and is useful for viewing the variability within a condition (Figure 1.11). While these calculations can be customized, the default calculations are to calculate the maximum response when the stimulus is a sound and the average response when the stimulus is a light. Thus, the maximum value is used to quantify the soft tap response. This point will be further showcased in the secondary analysis.



With these types of analysis, graphs for different conditions are compared side by side. To compare the effect of etomidate treatments on the fish, a seven-point threefold dilution series of etomidate was given to the fish. With the averaged motion index for each condition, the background assay shows sedation as the progressive loss of general motion as the concentration of etomidate increases (Figure 1.12a). The soft tap baseline assay shows that even though the etomidate-treated fish are sedated, they still respond to soft tap stimuli (Figure 1.12b). Comparing the graphs of the stimulus responses between etomidate-treated and non-treated fish shows the responses are approximately the same until increasing from 3 to 11 micromolar (uM) and then decreasing (Figure 1.12c). Differences in the soft tap responses between untreated fish and etomidate-treated fish become more apparent when the soft taps are closer together (Figure 1.13). Etomidate-treated fish continue responding to soft tap stimuli to a greater degree than their non-treated counterparts. This is possibly because the sedated fish only do the fast C bend startle response while non-treated fish are fully awake. The non-treated fish can still perform other behaviors such as different types of escape responses, and these behaviors might not be able to be interrupted by a soft tap stimulus.





Secondary Analysis of Behavioral Data

The above qualitative analysis is useful for visualizing the effects of different conditions on behaviors. Fish Spectacles also quantifies this data by calculating a responsiveness value for each assay. These calculations are highly customizable. The whole assay motion index values or the stimulus responses in the assay can be used. With the whole assay motion index values, the mean, maximum, and sum can be calculated. Similar to the previous variable calculations, the mean represents the average motion during the assay. The maximum represents the greatest amount of motion occurring at the same time, and the sum is the total amount of movement during the assay. For example, to determine the baseline movement of the animals, the sum of the motion index values of the background assay is used (Figure 1.14). This responsiveness can be plotted in a concentration-dependent manner for the etomidate titration. The half-effective concentration (EC50) is approximately 500 nanomolar (nM) for sedation.



Figure 1.14 Etomidate Concentration-Dependent Effects on Total Motion During the Background Assay. Shown is the sum of the motion index values for each concentration.
To determine a responsiveness value from the individual stimulus responses, the mean, maximum, and sum can be calculated. It is important to remember that this analysis builds upon the calculation for the stimulus response. These values are already the result of a custom calculation of the motion index values, and as a result, the average of the individual stimulus responses is used to calculate responsiveness from the stimuli as the default. For the baseline soft tap assay, the responsiveness as the average of soft tap responses is shown for non-treated animals and the titration of etomidate (Figure 1.15). The qualitative results seen in the primary analysis are quantified, and the aforementioned trend in responsiveness can be seen.





Additionally, Fish Spectacles calculates the habituation, or rate of change in responses, for a given assay. This quantification can be used to evaluate the acoustic startle response caused by etomidate. In the 10s, 5s, and 2.5s soft tap assays, etomidate-treated fish habituate slow, medium, and rapid (Figure 1.16). The phenotype of habituation in the fast C bend startle response results from plasticity in the underlying circuit, and one receptor that controls plasticity in this circuit is the NMDA receptor. Its activation drives plasticity and habituation, while blocking it inhibits these processes, allowing NMDA receptor ligands to modulate the rate of habituation ⁶¹⁻⁶⁷. To probe this

effect, D-cycloserine, a partial agonist, was titrated against fish. The side-by-side comparisons on the stimulus responses of untreated fish to those treated with D-cycloserine (DCS) is shown with lines representing the calculated rate of change in the responses (Figure 1.17a). Additionally, the concentration-dependent changes are graphed by Fish Spectacles (Figure 1.17b). These show the increasing effect of DCS on the rate of habituation and the usefulness of quantification.



change in the responses (black line)



of responses of 6.25 uM etomidate (gray) and co-treatment of 6.25 uM etomidate and 100 uM DCS (blue) (A), and the concentration-dependent effects of 6.25 uM etomidate co-treatment with DCS (B).

Pre-pulse inhibition is also analyzed in the secondary analysis. In the assay, pre-pulses of the speaker noise at intervals 100ms to 400ms before a soft tap fully inhibited the response, while the response gradually recovered at later intervals (Figure 1.18). This interval of inhibition is in agreement with the established literature (52). To evaluate the effect of different numbers of fish on these intervals, the responses of specific intervals are shown by condition (Figure 1.19). As noted, irrespective of numbers of fish, the responses are inhibited at the 200ms interval. By the 800ms interval, the responses are normal and resemble the baseline responsiveness of the soft tap baseline assay.



The final part of the secondary analysis is an automatic activity-based grouping function. This grouping finds conditions with values that are separated by at least one standard deviation and uses these conditions to define a group. It then finds all the conditions with values that fit within each group. This is highly useful when visualizing distinct effects on responses. As an example, an experiment was performed on etomidate-treated fish where each row of a 96-well plate had different numbers of fish. As expected, the responses increase with increasing numbers of fish (Figure 1.20a). These results were easily grouped by the grouping function (Figure 1.20b).

This experiment also makes an excellent case to look at the differences in the stimulus response calculations, mean, max, and sum, and how they affect the responsiveness calculation since increasing numbers of fish should lead to higher response and responsiveness values. The results highlight how these values differ between conditions (Figure 1.21). It is clear that the maximum captures the response of the fast C bend startle response. It shows the most resolution in the conditions, and in most assays, each condition is well separated from the others. The sum of the stimulus motion index values to calculate the response worked the least for this behavior. It is not clear why the sum does not capture the fast C bend response well, but one explanation is while fish respond simultaneously and perform the C bend, the duration of swimming after the C bend



Figure 1.19 Pre-Pulse Responses at Different Intervals for Increasing Numbers of Fish. No responses independent of fish number seen when the speaker noise was play 200ms before the soft tap (A), but the fish number dependent responses can be seen during the later 800ms interval

may be more variable. This would produce the same effect of a high motion index value during the initial response to the stimulus and then a variable amount of motion index values after the C bend.

Finally, Fish Spectacles works with both individual experiments for technical replicates and multiple experiments for biological replicates. This enables experiments with the same battery to be analyzed for statistically significant effects. To do this, the list of experiments is input, and Fish Spectacles averages the results of the primary analysis together and performs the secondary analysis. All of the same functionality is available for the biological analysis as the technical analysis.



Figure 1.20 Grouping Analysis Applied to Responsiveness Calculations for the Baseline Soft Tap Assay. The responsiveness calculated from the average responses to soft taps during the baseline soft tap assay for different numbers of fish (A), and the Fish Spectacles grouping algorithm applied to the results of A (B).



average (A), maximum (B), or sum (C)of the individual responses during the baseline soft tap assay or the 5s soft tap assay (D, E, F respectively) are shown. The grouping algorithm successfully found separate groups with similar responsiveness.

Discussion

Accessible and Systematic Approach for Quantifying Larval Zebrafish Behavioral Data

Fish Spectacles is designed to enable quantitative analysis and visualization of raw behavioral data from UCSF's behavioral profiling system in a manner accessible to those with little knowledge of coding. The platform is highly flexible and accounts for each stage of analyzing behavioral data from viewing the whole experimental battery motion index to calculating rates of change in isolated stimulus responses all while maintaining efficient computer memory use. Many types of calculations are available and adding additional custom calculations is a simple process detailed in the README file. Viewing the results is also simple. Text information is saved in text files and graphs are saved in PDF files. These outputs enable long-term storage of data in a standard format, use in additional scripts for further analysis, and generation of figures for publication.

Potential for Machine Learning

Fish Spectacles excels at the processing, primary analysis, and secondary analysis of raw behavioral data which can generate large amounts of data on compounds. Viewing one or a few different conditions is manageable by a single user, but the data for commercial libraries in batteries with many different assays is a great case for machine learning. Machine learning models need clean data with well-defined features to be correctly trained. Fish Spectacles does this through its collection of groups in and between experiments and isolation of stimulus responses. These results can be used either through the text files, or Fish Spectacles itself can be modified. The primary and secondary data analysis classes have well defined methods and instances that can be called in a new analysis. Fish Spectacles in combination with machine learning has the potential to prevent many common problems such as training on non-representative features in the behavioral motion indices.

Experimental

Zebrafish Husbandry

Up to 10,000 fertilized zebrafish embryos were collected per day from group matings of wild-type zebrafish. Larvae were raised on a 14/10 hour light/dark cycle at 28 °C until 7 day post-fertilization. Larvae were anesthetized with cold egg water and distributed into square 96-well plates. Plates were incubated at room temperature for 30 minutes for animals to become active. Molecule stock solutions were applied directly to the egg water, and larvae were incubated with the drug at room temperature for 30 minutes before behavioral analysis. The zebrafish-related procedures were conducted according to established protocols approved by UCSF's Institutional

Animal Care and Use Committee (IACUC) and in accordance with the Guide to Care and Use of Laboratory Animals (National Institutes of Health 1996).

Molecules

Etomidate was dissolved in DMSO and diluted to the fish from 300X stock solutions for a final concentration of 0.3% final concentration of DMSO. DMSO was diluted accordingly for comparisons between drug treatments. DMSO did not produce any noticeable behavioral effects upon comparison to untreated fish (data not shown). DCS was dissolved in water.

Fish Spectacles Source Code

The full open-source code and README documentation are available on GitHub. https://github.com/grantburley/SelloLab_Fish_Spectacles

References

- Von Uexküll, J. (1992). A stroll through the worlds of animals and men: A picture book of invisible worlds.
- Delprato, D. J., & Midgley, B. D. (1992). Some fundamentals of BF Skinner's behaviorism. *American psychologist*, 47(11), 1507.
- Smith, L. D., & Woodward, W. R. (1996). BF Skinner and behaviorism in American culture. Associated University Presses.
- Tinbergen, N. (1963). On aims and methods of ethology. Zeitschrift f
 ür tierpsychologie, 20(4), 410-433.
- 5. Tinbergen, N. (1974). Ethology and stress diseases. Science, 185(4145), 20-27.
- 6. Von Frisch, K. (1974). Decoding the language of the bee. Science, 185(4152), 663-668.
- 7. Lorenz, K. (1981). The foundations of ethology. Springer.
- Tinbergen, N., Broekhuysen, G. J., Feekes, F., Houghton, J. C. W., Kruuk, H., & Szulc, E. (1962). Egg shell removal by the black-headed gull, Larus ridibundus L.; a behaviour component of camouflage. *Behaviour*, 74-117.
- Ewer, R. F., & Ewer, R. F. (1968). Ethological theories and mammalian behaviour. Ethology of Mammals, 305-348.
- 10. Provine, R. R. (1992). Contagious laughter: Laughter is a sufficient stimulus for laughs and smiles. *Bulletin of the Psychonomic Society*, *30*(1), 1-4.
- Hoyle, G. (1984). The scope of neuroethology. *Behavioral and brain sciences*, 7(3), 367-381.
- Kupfermann, I., & Weiss, K. R. (1978). The command neuron concept. *Behavioral and Brain Sciences*, 1(1), 3-10.

- Diamond, J. (1971). The mauthner cell. In *Fish physiology* (Vol. 5, pp. 265-346).
 Academic Press.
- 14. Eaton, R. C., & Farley, R. D. (1975). Mauthner neuron field potential in newly hatched larvae of the zebra fish. *Journal of Neurophysiology*, *38*(3), 502-512.
- 15. Eaton, R. C., Bombardieri, R. A., & Meyer, D. L. (1977). The Mauthner-initiated startle response in teleost fish. *Journal of Experimental Biology*, *66*(1), 65-81.
- Korn, H., & Faber, D. S. (2005). The Mauthner cell half a century later: a neurobiological model for decision-making?. *Neuron*, 47(1), 13-28.
- 17. Koyama, Minoru, et al. "Mapping a sensory-motor network onto a structural and functional ground plan in the hindbrain." *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 108.3 (2011): 1170-1175.
- 18. Kimmel, C. B., Patterson, J., & Kimmel, R. O. (1974). The development and behavioral characteristics of the startle response in the zebra fish. *Developmental Psychobiology: The Journal of the International Society for Developmental Psychobiology*, 7(1), 47-60.
- 19. Nakajima, Y. (1974). Fine structure of the synaptic endings on the Mauthner cell of the goldfish. *Journal of Comparative Neurology*, *156*(4), 375-402.
- Furukawa, T., & Ishii, Y. (1967). Neurophysiological studies on hearing in goldfish. Journal of Neurophysiology, 30(6), 1377-1403.
- Fay, R. R. (1978). Coding of information in single auditory-nerve fibers of the goldfish. The Journal of the Acoustical Society of America, 63(1), 136-146.
- 22. S. Coombs, P. Gomer, H. Munz. (1989). The mechanosensory lateral line: neurobiology and evolution.

- Kimmel, C. B., Hatta, K., & Metcalfe, W. K. (1990). Early axonal contacts during development of an identified dendrite in the brain of the zebrafish. *Neuron*, 4(4), 535-545.
- 24. Zottoli, S. J., Hordes, A. R., & Faber, D. S. (1987). Localization of optic tectal input to the ventral dendrite of the goldfish Mauthner cell. *Brain research*, *401*(1), 113-121.
- Szabo, T. M., Weiss, S. A., Faber, D. S., & Preuss, T. (2006). Representation of auditory signals in the M-cell: role of electrical synapses. *Journal of neurophysiology*, 95(4), 2617-2629.
- 26. Curti, S., Gómez, L., Budelli, R., & Pereda, A. E. (2008). Subthreshold sodium current underlies essential functional specializations at primary auditory afferents. *Journal of neurophysiology*, 99(4), 1683-1699.
- 27. Weiss, S. A., Preuss, T., & Faber, D. S. (2009). Phase Encoding in the Mauthner System: Implications in Left–Right Sound Source Discrimination. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 29(11), 3431-3441.
- McLean, D. L., Fan, J., Higashijima, S. I., Hale, M. E., & Fetcho, J. R. (2007). A topographic map of recruitment in spinal cord. *Nature*, 446(7131), 71-75.
- 29. McLean, D. L., & Fetcho, J. R. (2009). Spinal interneurons differentiate sequentially from those driving the fastest swimming movements in larval zebrafish to those driving the slowest ones. *Journal of Neuroscience*, *29*(43), 13566-13577.
- Kinkhabwala, A., Riley, M., Koyama, M., Monen, J., Satou, C., Kimura, Y., ... & Fetcho, J. (2011). A structural and functional ground plan for neurons in the hindbrain of zebrafish. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, *108*(3), 1164-1169.

- Thiele, T. R., Donovan, J. C., & Baier, H. (2014). Descending control of swim posture by a midbrain nucleus in zebrafish. *Neuron*, 83(3), 679-691.
- 32. Neki, D., Nakayama, H., Fujii, T., Matsui-Furusho, H., & Oda, Y. (2014). Functional motifs composed of morphologically homologous neurons repeated in the hindbrain segments. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 34(9), 3291-3302.
- 33. Lipkind, D., & Tchernichovski, O. (2011). Quantification of developmental birdsong learning from the subsyllabic scale to cultural evolution. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 108(supplement_3), 15572-15579.
- 34. Bargmann, C. I., & Horvitz, H. R. (1991). Chemosensory neurons with overlapping functions direct chemotaxis to multiple chemicals in C. elegans. *Neuron*, 7(5), 729-742.
- 35. Maxwell RA, Eckhardt SB (eds). Drug Discovery: A Casebook and Analysis. Totowa: Humana Press, 1990.
- Hayashi, T. (1954). Effects of sodium glutamate on the nervous system. *The Keio Journal of Medicine*, 3(4), 183-192.
- 37. Curtis, D. R., & Watkins, J. C. (1960). The excitation and depression of spinal neurones by structurally related amino acids. *Journal of neurochemistry*, 6(2), 117-141.
- Curtis, D. R., & Watkins, J. C. (1965). The pharmacology of amino acids related to gammaaminobutyric acid. *Pharmacological reviews*, 17(4), 347-391.
- 39. Krogsgaard-Larsen, P., Honore, T., Hansen, J. J., Curtis, D. R., & Lodge, D. (1980). New class of glutamate agonist structurally related to ibotenic acid. *Nature*, *284*(5751), 64-66.
- 40. Shinozaki, H., & Shibuya, I. (1974). Potentiation of glutamate-induced depolarization by kainic acid in the crayfish opener muscle. *Neuropharmacology*, *13*(10-11), 1057-1065.

- Giliberto, S., Shishodia, R., Nastruz, M., Brar, C., Bulathsinhala, S., Terry, J., ... & Shenoy, S. K. (2024). A Comprehensive Review of Novel FDA-Approved Psychiatric Medications (2018-2022). *Cureus*, *16*(3).
- Taylor, C. P. (1994). Emerging perspectives on the mechanism of action of gabapentin. *Neurology*, 44(6 Suppl 5), S10-S32.
- 43. Bryans, J. S., & Wustrow, D. J. (1999). 3-Substituted GABA analogs with central nervous system activity: A review. *Medicinal research reviews*, *19*(2), 149-177.
- 44. Mathur, P., & Guo, S. (2010). Use of zebrafish as a model to understand mechanisms of addiction and complex neurobehavioral phenotypes. *Neurobiology of disease*, 40(1), 66-72.
- 45. Bencan, Z., Sledge, D. & Levin, E.D. Buspirone, chlordiazepoxide and diazepam effects in a zebrafish model of anxiety. Pharmacol. Biochem. Behav. 94, 75–80 (2009).
- 46. López-Patiño, M.A., Yu, L., Cabral, H. & Zhdanova, I.V. Anxiogenic effects of cocaine withdrawal in zebrafish. Physiol. Behav. 93, 160–171 (2008).
- 47. Egan, R.J. et al. Understanding behavioral and physiological phenotypes of stress and anxiety in zebrafish. Behav. Brain Res. 205, 38–44 (2009).
- Giacomini, N.J., Rose, B., Kobayashi, K. & Guo, S. Antipsychotics produce locomotor impairment in larval zebrafish. Neurotoxicol. Teratol. 28, 245–250 (2006).
- 49. Dinday, M. T., & Baraban, S. C. (2015). Large-scale phenotype-based antiepileptic drug screening in a zebrafish model of Dravet syndrome. *Eneuro*, *2*(4).
- 50. Orger, M. B., & de Polavieja, G. G. (2017). Zebrafish behavior: opportunities and challenges. *Annual review of neuroscience*, *40*(1), 125-147.

- Quiñonez-Silvero, C., Hübner, K., & Herzog, W. (2020). Development of the brain vasculature and the blood-brain barrier in zebrafish. *Developmental biology*, 457(2), 181-190.
- 52. SE Brockerhoff, et al., A behavioral screen for isolating zebrafish mutants with visual system defects. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* **92**, 10545–10549 (1995).
- HA Burgess, M Granato, Sensorimotor gating in larval zebrafish. J Neurosci 27, 4984– 4994 (2007).
- 54. Kokel, D., Bryan, J., Laggner, C., White, R., Cheung, C. Y. J., Mateus, R., ... & Peterson,
 R. T. (2010). Rapid behavior-based identification of neuroactive small molecules in the zebrafish. *Nature chemical biology*, 6(3), 231-237.
- 55. McCarroll, M. N., Gendelev, L., Keiser, M. J., & Kokel, D. (2016). Leveraging largescale behavioral profiling in zebrafish to explore neuroactive polypharmacology. ACS chemical biology, 11(4), 842-849.
- Bruni, G., Rennekamp, A. J., Velenich, A., McCarroll, M., Gendelev, L., Fertsch, E., ...
 & Kokel, D. (2016). Zebrafish behavioral profiling identifies multitarget antipsychoticlike compounds. *Nature chemical biology*, *12*(7), 559-566.
- 57. Hood, W.F., Compton, R.P., Monahan, J.B., (1989). d-cycloserine: a ligand for the Nmethyl-d-aspartate coupled glycine receptor has partial agonist characteristics. *Neuroscience Letters* 98, 91–95.
- 58. McBain, C.J., Kleckner, N.W., Wyrick, S., Dingledine, R., (1989). Structural requirements for activation of the glycine coagonist site of N-methyl-d-aspartate receptors expressed in Xenopus oocytes. *Molecular Pharmacology* 36, 556–565.

- 59. Priestley, T., & Kemp, J. A. (1994). Kinetic study of the interactions between the glutamate and glycine recognition sites on the N-methyl-D-aspartic acid receptor complex. *Molecular Pharmacology*, 46(6), 1191-1196.
- 60. McCarroll, M. N., Gendelev, L., Kinser, R., Taylor, J., Bruni, G., Myers-Turnbull, D., ... & Kokel, D. (2019). Zebrafish behavioural profiling identifies GABA and serotonin receptor ligands related to sedation and paradoxical excitation. *Nature communications*, *10*(1), 4078.
- Pereda, A. E., & Faber, D. S. (1996). Activity-dependent short-term enhancement of intercellular coupling. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 16(3), 983-992.
- 62. Wolszon, L. R., Pereda, A. E., & Faber, D. S. (1997). A fast synaptic potential mediated by NMDA and non-NMDA receptors. *Journal of neurophysiology*, *78*(5), 2693-2706.
- 63. Oda, Y., Kawasaki, K., Morita, M., Korn, H., & Matsui, H. (1998). Inhibitory long-term potentiation underlies auditory conditioning of goldfish escape behaviour. *Nature*, 394(6689), 182-185.
- 64. Pereda, A. E., Bell, T. D., Chang, B. H., Czernik, A. J., Nairn, A. C., Soderling, T. R., & Faber, D. S. (1998). Ca2+/calmodulin-dependent kinase II mediates simultaneous enhancement of gap-junctional conductance and glutamatergic transmission. *Proceedings* of the National Academy of Sciences, 95(22), 13272-13277.
- 65. Roberts, A. C., Reichl, J., Song, M. Y., Dearinger, A. D., Moridzadeh, N., Lu, E. D., ... & Glanzman, D. L. (2011). Habituation of the C-start response in larval zebrafish exhibits several distinct phases and sensitivity to NMDA receptor blockade. *PLOS one*, 6(12), e29132.

- 66. Wolman, M. A., Jain, R. A., Liss, L., & Granato, M. (2011). Chemical modulation of memory formation in larval zebrafish. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 108(37), 15468-15473.
- 67. Roberts, A. C., Pearce, K. C., Choe, R. C., Alzagatiti, J. B., Yeung, A. K., Bill, B. R., & Glanzman, D. L. (2016). Long-term habituation of the C-start escape response in zebrafish larvae. *Neurobiology of learning and memory*, *134*, 360-368

CHAPTER 2 : DESIGN AND SYNTHESIS OF NEUROACTIVE AMINO ACID LIKE

MOLECULES

Abstract

Much of our molecular knowledge of the nervous system comes from using small molecules as probes for neuroactivity. The most effective of these probes mimic endogenous neurotransmitters, amino acids or close derivates, to bind to specific receptors. This methodology of probing the nervous system has slowed with the lack of new neuroactive small molecules. Developing new probes requires strong considerations of pharmacodynamics and pharmacokinetics as many molecules are blocked from the brain with the blood brain barrier or interfere with endogenous neurotransmitter metabolism to produce off-target effects. A biological isostere of carboxylic acids with improved pharmacodynamic properties, tetrazoles, and secondary amines to prevent interference with metabolism is synthesized on the amino acid scaffold in the aim of developing new neuroactive probes.

Introduction

Nervous System Organization

The nervous system is complex. While specific areas of the nervous system are responsible for specific functions like other organ systems, the individual cells in the nervous system have unique connections and properties. This means two cells of the same type in the same area are likely to function differently and covey unique information to its neighbors. Compared to the digestive system where goblet cells all secrete mucus for lubrication or the urinary system where all glomerular endothelial cells filter the blood for waste products, this property of individual uniqueness makes understanding the nervous system much more difficult. The nervous system's properties arise from the network of cell connections and the connections between cells being malleable themselves, changing based on the activity of the individual cells¹. As a result, much of the scientific community's understanding of the nervous system comes from probing the connections between cells in living organisms, as this property has yet to be accurately recreated *in vivo*.

Molecular Communication

Communication in the nervous system is governed by small molecules called neurotransmitters. The majority of neurotransmitters are amino acids or derived from them (Figure 2.01). These neurotransmitters each bind to specific types of receptors in the nervous system such as glutamate with AMPA, Kainate, NMDA, and metabotropic receptors; gamma-aminobutyric acid (GABA) with ionotropic GABA-A and metabotropic GABA-B receptors; and glycine with ionotropic and potentially metabotropic receptors. Each type of receptor has a unique function from how it changes the cell to be more or less active and how it induces cell signaling through ionotropic depolarization or metabotropic secondary g proteins. Probing the activity and function of these proteins has been quite difficult. To probe activity of a specific receptor, a small molecule that binds specifically to that receptor is needed, and this quality is very hard to come by considering many of these proteins bind the same ligand. Despite this, ligands with relative specificity have been discovered and used to understand the function of some of these proteins²⁻⁵.



As we understand how these receptors function, the way these receptors become dysregulated during neuropathologies becomes clearer. The receptors of the glycinergic, GABAergic, and glutamatergic systems are dysregulated during conditions such as schizophrenia, epilepsy, depression, substance abuse, bipolar disorder, neuropathic pain, and learning disabilities⁶⁻¹². These conditions only have drugs for suppressing symptoms of the disease and lack curative treatments. This is especially true for conditions requiring glycinergic or glutamatergic ligands. The GABAergic system has a diverse set of allosteric ligands for GABAA receptors but less so for competitive ligands as well as ligands for GABAB receptors. Using ligands of these systems has shown promise as therapies but often fail to meet clinical standards due to poor bioavailability or poor specificity.

Neuroactive Small Molecule Development

Developing small molecule drugs is difficult. *In vivo*, no molecule only binds to a single protein, and the pharmacodynamic and pharmacokinetic properties can prevent or alter target engagement. Developing drugs targeting the nervous system is more difficult. Not only do the typical drug development hurdles apply, but the major organ of the nervous system, the brain, is surrounded by the blood brain barrier. The blood brain barrier is designed to deny the large majority of small molecules while only letting in others in an highly controlled manner, especially those resembling the endogenous neurotransmitters¹³. This protects the nervous system from uncontrolled activation given many receptors are activated by amino acids which are highly abundant in the body and blood. The barrier uses both molecular conformations and chemical properties for selective permeability¹⁴. While the molecular conformations are less characterized, this barrier is known to be impermeable to molecules with charges at physiological pH such as carboxylic acid functional groups. This keeps out the majority of drugs and endogenous small molecules.

If a molecule makes it to the brain, it is subjected to metabolic processes. Metabolism of small molecules is unique, and the chemistry is optimized to anabolize and catabolize neurotransmitters through amino transferases or monoamine oxidases¹⁵⁻¹⁷ (Figure 2.02a,b). The removal of the amine group prevents the molecules from being recognized by neurological receptors, allowing the products to be secreted from cells without non-specific activation. This biological process of the brain indicates an essential property for molecules to be neuroactive, recognition of amine functionality. This underlying chemistry of amine transferases has been problematic for drugs. Drugs with primary or secondary amines that are able to be recognized by one of the many amine transferases in the brain are subject to their catabolism. Not only can the

products of these reactions have their own effects particularly when the molecule has more than one amine group, the innate metabolism of the brain can also be greatly dysregulated. Dcycloserine, for example, irreversibly binds to GABA amino transferases and blocks their function^{17, 18} (Figure 2.02c). These effects can cause the buildup of neurotransmitters in neurons and glia as well as prevent the synthesis of other neurotransmitters. This produces its own changes in neurological communication and causes off target effects. These effects emerge in the clinic after several days of treatment as drowsiness, seizures, psychosis, anxiety, numbness and other central nervous system effects, and they prevent its use outside of last resort tuberculosis treatment.



Figure 2.02 Amine Removal From Neurotransmitters. Monoamine oxidases (MAOs) (A) and aminotransferases (B) remove the amine group from neurotransmitters. Drugs with primary and secondary amines can interfere with endogenous metabolism such as DCS (C). Typical aminotransferase complexes of pyridoxal phosphate and neurotransmitters are reversible such as GABA (D), but the complex with DCS is irreversible (E)

Bioavailability of Small Molecules

To further understand the roles of neuroactive receptors in homeostatic and pathological conditions, novel ligands for these receptors have to be synthesized. But first, the challenges must be addressed. The challenges of drug development fall into two main areas: the bioavailability of the molecule and the specificity of the molecule for its desired target and resulting effect. Chemical properties that significantly contribute to bioavailability can be predicted or measured such as the acid dissociation constant (pKa), calculated lipophilicity (cLogP), hydrogen bond donors and acceptors, total polar surface area (tPSA), and molar refractivity¹⁹ (Table 2.01).

Property	Ideal Range for Bioavailability	Ideal Range for Neuroactivity
molecular weight (g/mol)	<500	<450
lipophilicity (cLogP)	0.5-5	2-5
hydrogen bond donors (n)	5	3
hydrogen bond acceptors (n)	10	7
total polar surface area (A)	<140	<70
molar refractivity (m3/mol)	40-130	40-130

The amino acid receptors engage their ligands by recognizing the two chemical groups which are present on all amino acids, the amine and carboxylic acid groups. These groups are recognized by their charge and/or their hydrogen bonding capabilities. Both of these groups play key roles in the underlying biology as mentioned above and have very poor bioavailability, which makes directly using these groups in ligands unfavorable. Certain groups, biological isosteres, are known to be suitable replacements for problematic groups such as tetrazoles for carboxylic acids^{20, 21} (Figure 2.03). These groups retain the chemical properties of the original group, but are often "milder" than the original group. Tetrazoles, for example, have a more neutral pKa than carboxylic acids which results in less of a negative charge on this group in physiological conditions. Tetrazoles also have the ability to delocalize the charge out over more atoms through

tautomerization. In a similar line of reasoning, tertiary dimethyl amines are biological isosteres for other primary and secondary amines. These groups retain a similar but slightly more neutral pKa which generally improves pharmacodynamic properties, and they increase the lipophilicity of the molecule which is desired for reducing the high hydrophilicity of amino acids. Indeed, dimethylglycine binds and activates neurological receptors which use glycine as a ligand²².



(C)

In a demonstration of these biological isosteres on the molecule, the physiochemical properties of progressively replacing the amine and carboxylic acid groups for amino acids were calculated. To represent these properties and bioavailability in general, lipophilicity as the cLogP and total polar surface area were calculated for a series of progressively replacing amino acids with biological isosteres (Figure 2.04). cLogP is used to predict how the molecule will be distributed throughout the body and total polar surface area is used to predict if a molecule will pass the blood brain barrier. As guidelines from the literature, the cLogP of a molecule should be between 2 and 5, and the total polar surface area should be less than 90A^{19, 23, 24}. With these calculations, the progressive replacement of the primary amine and carboxylic acid produce molecules with more favorable calculated properties.



New Neuroactive Small Molecules

Given the endogenous neuroactivity of amino acids, the amino acid scaffold is ideal for the development of novel neuroactive small molecules. The challenge of using this scaffold is the carboxylic acid and primary amine groups which have poor bioavailability and metabolic properties. If these groups could be improved, the scaffold could be diversified to interact with a wide range of neurological receptors. Biological isosteres exist for both of these groups, but they have yet to be evaluated on the amino acid scaffold as potential neuroactive molecules. To evaluate this scaffold, amino acid like molecules with the carboxylic acid isostere, tetrazole, and secondary amines are first synthesized, named synthetic utility derivatives of amino acids (SUDAA).

Results

Multicomponent Reactions for Amino Acid Scaffolds

One of the first known reactions to synthesize amino acids was the Strecker reaction²⁵. The Strecker reaction is a multicomponent reaction where first an amine and carbonyl are mixed to form an imine followed by the addition of cyanide (Figure 2.05a). These products are initially carboxamides, but the carboxylic acid can be produced from acidic solvolysis conditions. While this reaction is useful for producing amino acids, it is limited to producing carboxamides and carboxylic acids.

A closely related reaction is the Ugi reaction^{26, 27}. The first step of this reaction is the same as the Strecker; the mixing of an amino and carbonyl to make an imine (Figure 2.05b). The second step differs with the addition of an isocyanide and a carboxyl acid. The isocyanide adds to the imine to produce an iminium intermediate which can be attacked by the carboxylic acid. This intermediate then undergoes a Mumm rearrangement by an acyl transfer of the carbonyl group of the previous carboxyl acid to the amine. Thus, the amine substrate of this reaction is limited to ammonia and primary amines as secondary amines are unable to perform the Mumm rearrangement for the final product. These Ugi products are close to having the desired amino acid scaffold but would require several more transformations to produce the desired amine and carboxylic acid functionality.

A derivative of the Ugi reaction is the Ugi tetrazole reaction²⁸⁻³¹. The difference is the use of an azide instead of a carboxylic acid in the second step of the reaction (Figure 2.05c). The attack of the azide on the iminium intermediate produces a 1,5 substituted tetrazole, and there is no Mumm rearrangement. This allows secondary amines to be used in the production of tetrazoles on an amino acid like scaffold. The final step to produce an amino acid-like scaffold is synthesizing a 5 substituted tetrazole from the 1,5 product of the Ugi tetrazole reaction. This can be done by using a reversible isocyanide in the reactions. Reversible isocyanides, such as Walborsky's isocyanide, can be used as an isocyanide, and then functional group attached to the cyanide in the isocyanide can be removed^{28, 31}. The use of Walborsky's isocyanide in the Ugi tetrazole allows 5 substituted tetrazoles to be produced by treating the Ugi products with acid. This Ugi tetrazole reaction with Walborsky's isocyanide synthesizes amino acid like molecules in two steps.



Synthesis of Amino Acid Tetrazoles

To make the Ugi tetrazole products, Walborsky's isocyanide first needed to be synthesized. This was done by first formylating 1,1,3,3-tetramethylbutylamine with a mixed anhydride, and then followed by dehydration of the formyl amine with phosphorus oxychloride (Figure 2.06a,b). The final product was purified by vacuum distillation to afford Walborsky's isocyanide in 70% yield over two steps on mole scale. With the reversible isocyanide in hand, the Ugi tetrazole reaction could then be performed. For the initial Ugi tetrazole reaction, dimethylamine and cyclopentanone were chosen for the amine and carbonyl components respectively. Cyclopentyl for the carbonyl component results in this group at the alpha position of the amino acid scaffold, and the full amino acid counterpart, cycloleucine, is neuroactive. This first reaction with the addition of Walborsky's isocyanide and trimethylsilyl azide proceeded well in good yield (Figure 2.06c). This product purified though column chromatography was then deprotected with 50% HCl in EtOH for an 82% yield over two steps(Figure 2.06d).



With this success, a range of carbonyl compounds were used in the Ugi tetrazole reaction with many having neuroactive amino acid correlates such as amino cyclobutyl carboxylic acid (Figure 2.07). One molecule was made to evaluate steric bulk at the amino position with diethyl amine used for the reaction instead of dimethylamine. This larger group may block the engagement of the amino group with some neurotransmitter receptors. Finally, the equivalent of glycine for this scaffold was synthesized. Using the general Ugi tetrazole reaction with formaldehyde, the desired product was not formed in any yield. The major product appeared to be a polymerization product largely formed from dimethylamine and formaldehyde. With the goal of reducing the probability of this product formation, the order of addition for the Ugi reaction was changed. Dimethylamine, Walborsky's isocyanide, and trimethylsilyl azide was mixed in methanol followed by the cooling of the reaction to 0 C and dropwise addition of aqueous formaldehyde. This produced the desired Ugi tetrazole product purified by column chromatography in 57% yield. Treating the product with 6 N HCl in dioxane produced the desired dimethyl glycine tetrazole.



Discussion

Modular Synthesis Platform for the Amino Acid Scaffold

The advantage of using the Ugi tetrazole reaction is the diversity of components that can be used and the ease of installing desired functionality at each position in a single step. This in combination with the ability to synthesize biological isosteres makes it ideal for the synthesis of neuroactive molecules. Despite this promise, these types of molecules have yet to be synthesized for the purpose of neuroactivity. In this aim, several molecules were synthesized from the Ugi tetrazole in moderate to good yield for evaluation in following behavioral experiments.

Experimental

Formylation of 1,1,3,3-tetramethylbutylamine

Acetic anhydride (60 mmol) was added to a round bottom flask mixed with a stir bar followed by the addition of formic acid (70 mmol), and the solution was stirred at room temperature. After 1 hour, the solution was cooled to 0 C and 1,1,3,3-tetramethylamine (10 mmol) was added dropwise. After the addition, the solution was allowed to warm to room temperature overnight. At completion of the reaction, the solution was diluted with dichloromethane (DCM) (50 mL), washed with water (x3), sodium bicarbonate (x3), brine (x1), and extracted into DCM (x3). The solution was dried with sodium sulfate, and the solvent removed by rotary evaporation to yield 1,1,3,3-tetramethylbutylformamide (clear odorless oil) in quantitative yield. When needed, the oil was azeotroped with toluene to remove any remaining formic acid.

Dehydration of 1,1,3,3-tetramethylbutylformamide

To an oven dried round bottom flask with a stir bar, 1,1,3,3-tetramethylbutylformamide (10 mmol) was added and the atmosphere was purged with argon. DCM (2M) and triethylamine (TEA) (50 mmol) was added, and the solution was cooled to 0 C in an ice bath. Phosphorous oxychloride (POCl₃) (10 mmol) was added dropwise, and the reaction was allowed to warm to room temperature overnight. At completion of the reaction, water (20 mL) was added, and the mixture was extracted into DCM and washed with aqueous sodium bicarbonate. The solution was

dried with sodium sulfate and the solvent was removed with rotary evaporation. The resulting brown oil was purified though vacuum distillation (5 mbar, 30C) to yield 1,1,3,3-tetramethylisocyanide in 70% yield.

General Ugi Tetrazole

Dimethylamine (2M in MeOH, 1 mmol) was added to a round bottom flask with a stir bar followed by methanol (MeOH) (1M) and ketone (1 mmol). The solution was allowed to stir for 30 minutes before the addition of 1,1,3,3-tetramethylisocyanide (1.1 mmol) and trimethylsilyl-azide (TMS-azide) (1.1 mmol). The reaction was monitored by TLC. At completion, the reaction mixture was concentrated by rotary evaporation and purified by column chromatography (3 hexane : 1 ethyl acetate).

Modified Ugi Tetrazole

Dimethylamine (2M in MeOH, 1 mmol) was added to a round bottom flask with a stir bar followed by MeOH (1M), 1,1,3,3-tetramethylisocyanide (1.1 mmol) and trimethylsilyl-azide (TMS-azide) (1.1 mmol). The solution was cooled to 0 C and aqueous formaldehyde (1.0 mmol) was added dropwise. The reaction was allowed to warm to room temperature and monitored by TLC. After 4 hours, the reaction mixture was concentrated by rotary evaporation and purified by column chromatography (1 hexane : 1 ethyl acetate).

General Deprotection of Ugi Tetrazole Products

Ugi tetrazole product (0.5 mmol) was added to a scintillation vial with a stir bar. A 50% solution of HCl : EtOH (2 mL) was added, and the solution was stirred for 1 hour. At completion

of the reaction, the solvent was removed by rotary evaporation and the product was washed with ethanol. Reaction yields are typically quantitative.

Molecule Characterization

SUDAA002 : 1H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl3) 2.784 (s, 6H), 1.852 (complex, 8H)

MS (ESI) : 181.2 (181.13 expected)

SUDAA007 : 1H NMR (400 MHz, CDC13) 2.165 (complex, 6H), 1.87 (complex, 5H), 1.79

(complex, 5H), 1.036 (complex, 2H)

MS (ESI) : 209.4 (209.16 expected)

SUDAA009 : 1H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl3) 2.300 (complex, 6H), 2.300 (complex, 6H), 2.300

(complex, 6H)

MS (ESI) : 209.7 (209.16 expected)

SUDAA011 : 1H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl3) 2.694 (complex, 6H), 1.805 (s, 6H)

MS (ESI) : 167.2 (167.12 expected)

SUDAA013 : 1H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl3) 2.202 (complex, 6H), 1.598, (s, 6H)

MS (ESI) : 155.3 (155.12 expected)

SUDAA015 : 1H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl3) 2.175 (complex, 6H), 1.88 (s, 8H), 1.72 (complex, 2H)

MS (ESI) : 195.8 (195.15 expected)

SUDAA017 : 1H NMR (400 MHz, CDC13) 2.404 (s, 6H), 1.892 (s, 4H), 0.810 (complex, 6H)

MS (ESI) : 183.5 (183.15 expected)

SUDAA021 : 1H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl3) 2.484 (s, 8H), 1.620 (s, 6H), 1.503 (s, 2H)

MS (ESI) : 209.7 (209.16 expected)

SUDAA027 : 1H NMR (400 MHz, CDCl3) 3.81 (s, 2H), 2.302 (s, 6H)

MS (ESI) : 127.7 (127.09 expected)

References

- Hebb, D. O. (1949). *The organization of behavior: A neuropsychological theory*. Psychology Press.
- Curtis, D. R., & Watkins, J. C. (1960). The excitation and depression of spinal neurones by structurally related amino acids. *Journal of neurochemistry*, 6(2), 117-141.
- 3. Curtis, D. R., & Watkins, J. C. (1965). The pharmacology of amino acids related to gammaaminobutyric acid. *Pharmacological reviews*, *17*(4), 347-391.
- 4. Krogsgaard-Larsen, P., Honore, T., Hansen, J. J., Curtis, D. R., & Lodge, D. (1980). New class of glutamate agonist structurally related to ibotenic acid. *Nature*, *284*(5751), 64-66.
- Shinozaki, H., & Shibuya, I. (1974). Potentiation of glutamate-induced depolarization by kainic acid in the crayfish opener muscle. *Neuropharmacology*, *13*(10-11), 1057-1065.
- Lisman, J. E., Coyle, J. T., Green, R. W., Javitt, D. C., Benes, F. M., Heckers, S., & Grace, A. A. (2008). Circuit-based framework for understanding neurotransmitter and risk gene interactions in schizophrenia. *Trends in neurosciences*, *31*(5), 234-242.
- Staley, K. (2015). Molecular mechanisms of epilepsy. *Nature neuroscience*, *18*(3), 367-372.
- Hyman, S. E., Malenka, R. C., & Nestler, E. J. (2006). Neural mechanisms of addiction: the role of reward-related learning and memory. *Annu. Rev. Neurosci.*, 29(1), 565-598.
- Scofield, M. D., Heinsbroek, J. A., Gipson, C. D., Kupchik, Y. M., Spencer, S., Smith, A. C. W., ... & Kalivas, P. (2016). The nucleus accumbens: mechanisms of addiction across drug classes reflect the importance of glutamate homeostasis. *Pharmacological reviews*, 68(3), 816-871.

- Cheron, J., & Kerchove d'Exaerde, A. D. (2021). Drug addiction: from bench to bedside. *Translational Psychiatry*, 11(1), 424.
- 11. Kim, Y., Santos, R., Gage, F. H., & Marchetto, M. C. (2017). Molecular mechanisms of bipolar disorder: progress made and future challenges. *Frontiers in cellular neuroscience*, *11*, 30.
- 12. Finnerup, N. B., Kuner, R., & Jensen, T. S. (2020). Neuropathic pain: from mechanisms to treatment. *Physiological reviews*.
- Stewart, P. A., & Wiley, M. J. (1981). Developing nervous tissue induces formation of blood-brain barrier characteristics in invading endothelial cells: a study using quail-chick transplantation chimeras. *Developmental biology*, 84(1), 183-192.
- Cornford, E. M., & Hyman, S. (1999). Blood–brain barrier permeability to small and large molecules. *Advanced drug delivery reviews*, 36(2-3), 145-163.
- R Ramsay, R. (2012). Monoamine oxidases: the biochemistry of the proteins as targets in medicinal chemistry and drug discovery. *Current topics in medicinal chemistry*, *12*(20), 2189-2209.
- 16. Bak, L. K., Schousboe, A., & Waagepetersen, H. S. (2006). The glutamate/GABAglutamine cycle: aspects of transport, neurotransmitter homeostasis and ammonia transfer. *Journal of neurochemistry*, 98(3), 641-653.
- 17. Dann, O. T., & Carter, C. E. (1964). Cycloserine inhibition of gamma-aminobutyric-alphaketoglutaric transaminase. *Biochemical Pharmacology*, *13*(5), 677-684.
- 18. Olson, G. T., Fu, M., Lau, S., Rinehart, K. L., & Silverman, R. B. (1998). An aromatization mechanism of inactivation of γ-aminobutyric acid aminotransferase for the antibiotic L-cycloserine. *Journal of the American Chemical Society*, *120*(10), 2256-2267.
- 19. Pajouhesh, H., & Lenz, G. R. (2005). Medicinal chemical properties of successful central nervous system drugs. *NeuroRx*, *2*, 541-553.
- 20. Malik, M. A., Wani, M. Y., Al-Thabaiti, S. A., & Shiekh, R. A. (2014). Tetrazoles as carboxylic acid isosteres: chemistry and biology. *Journal of Inclusion Phenomena and Macrocyclic Chemistry*, 78, 15-37.
- 21. Brown, N. (2012). Bioisosterism in medicinal chemistry. *Bioisosteres in medicinal chemistry*, 1-14.
- 22. Lee, M. Y., Lin, Y. R., Tu, Y. S., Tseng, Y. J., Chan, M. H., & Chen, H. H. (2017). Effects of sarcosine and N, N-dimethylglycine on NMDA receptor-mediated excitatory field potentials. *Journal of Biomedical Science*, 24, 1-11.
- Johnson, T. W., Dress, K. R., & Edwards, M. (2009). Using the Golden Triangle to optimize clearance and oral absorption. *Bioorganic & medicinal chemistry letters*, 19(19), 5560-5564.
- Hitchcock, S. A., & Pennington, L. D. (2006). Structure- brain exposure relationships. Journal of medicinal chemistry, 49(26), 7559-7583.
- 25. Strecker, A. Ann. Chem. Pharm. (1850), 75, 27.
- 26. Ugi, I. (1960) Steinbruckner, C. Angew. Ed.
- 27. Ugi, I. (1962). The α-addition of immonium ions and anions to isonitriles accompanied by secondary reactions. Angewandte Chemie International Edition in English
- Ugi, I., & Meyr, R. (1961). Isonitrile, V. Erweiterter Anwendungsbereich der Passerini-Reaktion. *Chemische Berichte*, 94(8), 2229-2233.
- 29. Zhao, T., Boltjes, A., Herdtweck, E., & Dömling, A. (2013). Tritylamine as an ammonia surrogate in the Ugi tetrazole synthesis. *Organic letters*, *15*(3), 639-641.

- Chandgude, A. L., & Dömling, A. (2016). An efficient Passerini tetrazole reaction (PT-3CR). *Green Chemistry*, 18(13), 3718-3721.
- Wang, Q., Mgimpatsang, K. C., Konstantinidou, M., Shishkina, S. V., & Dömling, A. (2019).
 1, 3, 4-Oxadiazoles by Ugi-tetrazole and Huisgen reaction. *Organic letters*, *21*(18), 7320-7323.

CHAPTER 3 : QUANTIFICATION AND EVALUATION OF NEUROACTIVITY IN THE FAST C BEND STARTLE RESPONSE FOR AMINO ACID LIKE MOLECULES

Abstract

The identification of specific behavior effect of molecules has been essential to characterizing neuroactives, but few of these discoveries have been made in recent years. This is in part due to the challenges of evaluating behavior in large animals like rodents. In a systematic and high throughput approach to overcoming these challenges, a larval zebrafish behavioral profiling system was developed at UCSF. Larval zebrafish are surprisingly similar to humans with many analogous genes, brain structures, and behaviors. Using a collection of characterized neuroactive molecules and newly synthesized molecules designed to be more bioavailable neuroactive amino acids, the behavioral profiling system identified perturbations in a simple behavior, the fast C bend startle response. These novel molecules were neuroactive, often at low concentrations, and resembled the activity of their amino acid counterpart when one was tested. These results highlight the use of the phenotypes of a single behavior to evaluate the neuroactivity of both known and unknown molecules.

Introduction

Evaluating Behavioral Effects of Neuroactive Molecules

The large majority of neuroactive drugs were discovered because of their behavioral effects. Indeed, some of these behavioral effects were discovered initially in humans, proving an immediate relationship between the molecule activity and human behavior, but non-incidental discovery of neuroactive molecules requires the use of animals and drawing conclusions between the animal and humans. The most prominent animal is the rodent. Rodents have a wide variety of behaviors whose molecular causes have been identified, and these have been used to identify molecular mechanisms of neuroactive molecules. Pethidine was identified as muscle relaxant due

to its anti-spasmodic effects on colons isolated from guinea pigs, but its true mechanism of opioid receptor engagement was revealed when pethidine caused a characteristic straub tail in rodents¹. Pethidine went on to be the first synthetic opioid to be used for analgesia in humans.

High Throughput Evaluation of Behavioral Phenotypes

These early types of accidental discovery prompted more systematic approaches into the use of behavior to characterize molecules. Propofol, an anesthetic, was discovered by evaluating a library of phenols in rodents for their ability to induce sedation and the loss of righting reflex². While successful, the experiment was extremely laborious. Five rodents were used for each condition, and each molecule in the 51-compound library was evaluated in six to eight different concentrations for approximately 1500 rodents used for the study. Each rodent required manual injection of the molecule followed by characterizing the immediate effects and duration of effects. Furthermore, this does not include the follow up studies in rabbits.

While this was successful for the discovery of propofol, not many other drugs have been discovered with this approach in rodents. This is likely due to the time consuming and laborious nature of behavioral experimentation with these animals. An animal model that swims to solve these problems is the larval zebrafish. The larval zebrafish is small which allows easy manipulation and is produced in high numbers, typically 30 to 50 embryos from a single breeding. This allows relatively few adult zebrafish to produce thousands of larvae which can be pipetted into 96-well plates for experiments. Dosing these animals with drugs is as simple as pipetting drug solutions to the water of the animals. The drugs reach the fish through their skin, mouth, gills, stomach, and other tissues contacting the environment, and many times produce effects analogous to those in humans³⁻⁷. The analogies are not limited to the effects of drugs; Zebrafish share a high gene

homology with humans and an even higher homology of disease-causing genes⁸. Zebrafish also have all the same neurotransmitters as humans and many homologous brain regions⁹. These facts in combination with larval zebrafish developing rapidly and displaying a wide range of behaviors by seven days post-fertilization make them an excellent animal model to investigate behaviors and the effect of molecules on those behaviors.

In using larval zebrafish to study behavior, a larval zebrafish behavioral profiling system was developed at UCSF^{10, 11}. This system holds a 96-well plate on a stage underneath a high-speed camera and records the motion of larval zebrafish while a variety of stimuli including lights and sounds are played to the animals (Figure 1.05). When pipetting six fish per well in a 96-well plate, the behavior of 480 animals can be evaluated in a single experiment, and when performing experiments in three biological replicates, the number of animals used nears that of the propofol discovery with a fraction of the labor involved. Thus, the behavioral profiling system enables rapid and high throughput characterization of different conditions on specific behaviors.

Novel Neuroactive Molecule Evaluation

Prime candidates for neuroactivity are amino acids. The nervous system uses amino acids and close derivates as neurotransmitters, and as a result similar molecules are neuroactive (Figure 2.01). Synthetic and noncanonical amino acids were discovered to be highly effective probes of specific neurotransmitter receptors, and much of our understanding of molecular mechanisms in the nervous system depends on these molecules¹²⁻¹⁵. While useful, amino acids themselves often cannot be used to investigate behavior due to their poor bioavailability. Problematic primary amine and carboxylic acid functional groups on these molecules are both highly polar and charged in physiological conditions. This results in the molecules being unable to pass the blood brain barrier, and their often-rapid excretion from the body through the kidneys. To investigate molecular mechanisms in behavior without injecting molecules directly into the brain, amino acid like molecules with improved pharmacodynamic and pharmacokinetic properties must be synthesized.

A series of amino acid like molecules were synthesized with the aim of producing molecules with improved bioavailability (Figure 2.07). The carboxylic acid of the scaffold was replaced with an isostere of a tetrazole. Tetrazoles maintain similar but muted properties of carboxylic acid due to the reduced electronegativity of nitrogen compared to oxygen and the resonance structures which spread the negative charge over four atoms compared to two atoms. The primary amine group was replaced with a dimethylamine group which displays similar properties with a more neutral pKa and reduced hydrophilicity. The dimethylamine group does lose hydrogen bond donors compared to the original but is still able to maintain many of the same interactions through the charge and accepting a hydrogen bond. This is showcased by dimethylglycine and glycine sharing ligand engagement sites in the body such as in the NMDA receptor¹⁶. These amino acid-like molecules have a high probability of neuroactivity.

The Fast C Bend Startle Response as a Measure of Neuroactivity

The UCSF behavioral profiling system is an excellent method to characterize the activity of these molecules. This system has been used to characterize a wide range of behaviors and effects of small molecules including the effect of etomidate on the fast C bend startle response. Etomidate appears to cause a loss of responsiveness like other sedatives except in response to sounds which still elicit the fast C bend startle response¹⁷. These etomidate-treated animals make a great model of studying a chemically isolated behavior.

The fast C bend startle response has a rich history involved in the discovery of neuroscience and was discovered to be an ethological fixed action pattern¹⁸⁻²³ (Figure 1.03). Fixed action patterns meet several behavioral characteristics that result from the underlying organization of the neural circuitry. The modulation of these characteristics is tied to the activity in specific parts of the neural circuitry. The first of these characteristics is the detection of startling stimuli such as certain sounds. This starts with the detection of sound by hair cells in the inner ear²⁴⁻²⁷. The location of the hair cells within the inner ear determines which frequences of sound the hair cell can detect, and when sound reaches the hair cells, they release glutamate to stimulate AMPA receptors on primary afferents²⁸⁻³². The primary afferents which are a part of the fast C bend startle response are unique. Instead of making connections with hair cells in one specific area like those that detect specific frequences, these afferents make connections with hair cells at a wide range of locations. This enables these afferents to detect the shared characteristic of sound across different frequencies, the intensity of sound. The primary afferents are activated once an intensity threshold is surpassed and stimulate the Mauthner cells at the center of the circuit^{23, 33-35}. These primary afferents are also connected to and stimulate intermediate inhibitory glycinergic and GABAergic neurons which then connect to the Mauthner cells³⁵⁻⁴². These neurons play a critical role in setting the threshold for detecting a "startling" stimulus by requiring the Mauthner cell to be sufficiently activated by the primary afferents before their activation. This inhibitory component determines how much activation of the Mauthner cell is required before the Mauthner is inhibited from firing. In other words, the primary afferents and interneurons determine how loud a noise must be within a certain time to be considered startling. These molecular mechanisms of the circuit emerge in the responsiveness and pre-pulse inhibition phenotypes of the fast C bend startle response.

A third phenotype of the fast C bend startle response is habituation or the learning to anticipate an upcoming startling stimulus when the stimulus is repeated rhythmically⁴³⁻⁵⁰. Habituation is a form of neural plasticity in which the strengths between neurons are strengthen or weakened, and these molecular mechanisms are characterized in the circuit as well. The Mauthner cell and interneurons receiving input from the primary afferents have NMDA receptors at these synapses⁴³⁻⁴⁷. When the NMDA receptor is activated, the influx of calcium through its central pore leads to synaptic changes such as changes in the number and ratio of neurotransmitter receptors expressed at synapses. This causes synapses to become more or less sensitive to activation of the presynaptic neuron. These changes occur both at the synapses with the Mauthner cell and the intermediate inhibitory neurons, and the result of habituation is from changes in both of these synapses.

Changes in these phenotypes is a result in the change in the described neural circuitry. Small molecules targeting receptors underlying these phenotypes are established to indeed modulate the phenotype accordingly. Glycine and GABA receptor ligands modulate different phases of pre-pulse inhibition⁵¹, and NMDA receptor ligands modulate habituation⁴⁷. Thus, these three behavioral phenotypes of the fast C bend startle can be used to identify novel molecules engaging with these receptors. These connections between the neural circuitry and behavioral phenotypes in combination with etomidate isolating the behavior for measurement by the behavioral profiling system makes the fast C bend startle response an excellent behavioral model to characterize the activity of neuroactive amino acid like molecules.

Results

A Behavioral Battery to Evaluate the Fast C Bend Startle Response

To evaluate the fast C bend startle response, a custom battery was designed to capture the three phenotypes, responsiveness, pre-pulse inhibition, and habituation, with three types of assays. The first assay, acoustic responsiveness, is measured with four soft solenoid taps played every 30 seconds to evaluate how the animals are responding to the acoustic stimulus. This soft solenoid tap produces an acoustic stimulus capable of inducing the fast C bend startle response. The pre-pulse inhibition is measured by the ability of a non-behavior inducing stimulus to inhibit a triggering stimulus. In this case, a soft speaker noise which the fish do not respond was played at a range of 100 ms intervals before a soft tap stimulus: simultaneous, 100 ms, 200 ms, 300 ms, 400 ms, 500 ms, 600 ms, 700 ms, 800 ms, and 900 ms. For the habituation, several assays were designed playing a soft solenoid tap at various intervals to induce habituation of the fast C bend startle response. The fish begin habituating when taps are played every 10s and habituate quicker as the rate of tapping increases. Thus, three habituation assays of different intervals, 10s, 5s, and 2.5s were used to visualized changes in habituation.

Evaluating a Collection of Neuroactive Molecules

The amino acid like molecules were evaluated in a seven-point threefold dilution series in three technical replicates per experiment and at least two biological replicates of experiments. Three biological replicates of SUDAA002, SUDAA007, SUDAA009, and SUDAA021 are analyzed, but the third biological replicates of the other molecules were not collected due to instrument error. In addition to these molecules, several known molecules were also evaluated: Dcycloserine, HA-966, NMDA, aminocyclobutyl carboxylic acid (ACBC), glycine, and dimethylglycine (Figure 3.01). D-cycloserine (DCS) is a partial agonist of NMDA receptors and an inhibitor of GABA transaminase⁵²⁻⁵⁴. HA-966 is a partial agonist of NMDA receptors and likely also binds to GABA-B receptors^{55, 56}. NMDA is a full agonist of NMDA receptors as well as a full agonist of AMPA and kainate receptors albeit at reduced potency compared to NMDA receptors⁵⁷. ACBC is known to be a partial agonist of NMDA receptors, but its activity at other receptors has not been evaluated⁵⁸. Glycine is an agonist of glycine receptors and NMDA receptors, while dimethylglycine is only known to be an agonist of NMDA receptors. This lack of specificity in neuroactive molecules is standard with no established molecules being active at only a single receptor. Despite this, their characterized effects are expected to produce corresponding changes in behavioral phenotypes.



Changes in Fast C Bend Startle Responsiveness

As mentioned, the soft tap baseline assay evaluates the baseline responsiveness of the animals to the soft tap stimulus. The four responses to the four taps in the assay are averaged together into a single value for each condition to quantify the responsiveness. Untreated larval zebrafish have a responsiveness of approximately 1600 (Figure 3.02a). The molecules ACBC, HA-966, and DCS, did not appear to produce any meaningful changes with similar values across their titrations. On the contrary, NMDA, glycine, and dimethylglycine all greatly enhanced the

responsiveness (Figure 3.02b). In the new amino acid like molecules, most produced no changed in responsiveness. SUDAA011 and SUDAA017 did show an enhanced responsiveness but only at low and few concentrations (Figure 3.02c). One molecule, SUDAA027, did show a greatly enhanced responsiveness (Figure 3.02d). SUDAA027 is also dimethyl aminotetrazole, a chemically closely related molecule to glycine and dimethylglycine.



Changes in Fast C Bend Startle Pre-Pulse Inhibition

The pre-pulse inhibition assay probes the ability of a non-startling stimulus to inhibit a following startling stimulus (Figure 1.18). In untreated fish, the response is inhibited when the non-startling stimulus is played 200-400ms before the startling stimulus. In general, most molecules had no effect on the pre-pulse inhibition responses (Figure 3.03a). The molecules that



Figure 3.03 Changes in Pre-Pulse Inhibition. Full condition results (A) and co-treatments with glycine(B), dimethylglycine(C), DCS (D), SUDAA027 (E) are shown. Increased responses during inhibited intervals (blue star) for the co-treatment of 6.25 uM etomidate and 100 uM glycine (F)

were able to disrupt this phenotype and allow fish to respond to values of at least 150 during this timeframe were glycine, dimethylglycine, DCS, HA-966 and SUDAA027 (Figure 3.03b,c,d,e,f). While these responses are not as resolved as the other assays, these molecules do all share a similarity in engaging the glycinergic or GABAergic inhibitory systems.

An unexpected effect of some of the molecules, was the increase in responsiveness to other stimuli (Figure 3.04a). Some of these molecules caused the fish to respond to the non-startling

sound of which NMDA was the greatest. This phenotype was not expected and to the best of my knowledge has not been characterized previously. These conditions in which fish responded to the non-startling stimulus are not accurate measures of pre-pulse inhibition. It should be noted that for these molecules at concentrations where the fish did not respond to the non-startling stimulus, there was no effect on pre-pulse inhibition (Figure 3.04b).



74

33.3 uM

Changes in Fast C Bend Startle Habituation

The habituation of the fast C bend startle response is measured in three different assays. In the 10s soft tap assay, fish habituate minimally, and the corresponding molecular machinery is minimally activated (Figure 1.16a). In the 5s and 2.5s soft tap assay, the fish habituate at increasing rates (Figure 1.16b,c). During the 10s assay, many molecules did not significantly influence the rate of habituation (Figure 3.05). Molecules that were able to increase habituation during this time



Figure 3.05 Changes in Habituation for the 10s Soft Tap Assay. Calculated habituation values for all conditions over three graphs (A, B, C).

included NMDA, ACBC, glycine, dimethylglycine, DCS, SUDAA011, SUDAA013, and SUDAA021. Only one molecule, ACBC, was able to inhibit/reverse habituation. The molecules increasing habituation during the 5s and 2.5s habituation assay included all of the same molecules as those in the 10s assay in addition to HA-966, SUDAA002, SUDAA009, SUDAA007, and SUDAA017 (Figure 3.06, 3.07). The molecules able to inhibit/reverse habituation also grew







compared to the 10s assay. ACBC again showed reduced habituation at several concentrations along with glycine, SUDAA007, SUDAA011, SUDAA013, SUDAA015, SUDAA017.

Correlations in Activity

From these results, several conclusions can be drawn about the molecules evaluated and their neuroactivity. First, in the overall fast C bend startle responsiveness assay, the full agonists NMDA, glycine, and dimethylglycine were able to increase responsiveness. SUDAA027, a more bioavailable version of glycine and dimethylglycine, mimicked this phenotype. This trend held for the pre-pulse inhibition and habituation assays as well, indicating a shared mechanism for these molecules. SUDAA011, a more bioavailable version of ACBC, mimicked its activity as well. SUDAA011 and ACBC were some of the few compounds able to reduce the rate of habituation. In this group of compounds reducing habituation were SUDAA013 and SUDAA017, close structural analogs of SUDAA011. SUDAA013 and SUDAA017 did not produce the pre-pulse inhibition or increased responsiveness which suggests the small size of the substituents at the alpha position is necessary for these phenotypes.

The molecules SUDAA007, SUDAA009, and SUDAA015 each differ from each other by a single carbon atom, and as expected, their activity is similar as well. These molecules did not alter the phenotypes of responsiveness, pre-pulse inhibition, or habituation during the 10s soft tap assay. During the 2.5s soft tap assay, each of these molecules reduced the rate of habituation in a similar concentration-dependent manner. For the 5s soft tap assay, the activity of these molecules differed slightly. SUDAA015 only decreased the rate of habituation at some concentration. SUDAA007 has a cyclohexane ring with a four-position methyl group at the alpha position of the scaffold, and this molecule decreased the rate of habituation at low concentrations before enhancing the rate of habituation at high concentrations. Increasing the size of the cyclohexane ring to a cycloheptane ring in SUDAA009 caused habituation to only be slightly reduced at low concentrations before increasing the rate of habituation at high concentrations. Again, these similarities in behavioral phenotypes suggest shared mechanisms of engagement.

Discussion

Effects of Biological Isosteres on the Amino Acid Scaffold

The newly synthesized amino acid like molecules with biological isosteres were neuroactive, and their activity resembled that of their amino acid counterpart when tested. While their mechanisms of action remain unknown, it is strongly suggested they are shared from the similarities in effects on phenotypes with chemically similar molecules. These results strongly support the use of tetrazole and dimethylamine to maintain a similar but more bioavailable binding mode than carboxylic acids and primary amines. For a clear picture on the effects of these groups on pharmacodynamics and pharmacokinetics, similar experimentation in rodents with a single route of administration should be performed. The larval zebrafish results are promising, but as mentioned, the molecules reach the brain of the larval zebrafish through multiple routes including the skin, gills, mouth, and stomach. How these molecules are reaching the brains of the fish is not clear. It is clear the molecules are able to pass the blood brain barrier of these animals at this developmental stage, and engage receptors in a similar manner to their amino acid counterparts.

Specificity in the Nervous System

The evaluation of the neuroactivity of small molecules is complex. Many neurological receptors share the same or very similar ligand binding domains, and as a result, there are no small molecules selective for a single receptor. All FDA approved neuroactives engage multiple receptors at clinically relevant concentrations to produce their desired therapeutic effect. Attempts

to improve neuroactives by increasing their specificity have largely failed. Adding to this complexity, many neuroactives also show concentration-dependent mechanisms of target engagement. For example, DCS at low concentrations acts a partial agonist at the NMDA receptor, but at high concentrations, it acts as an antagonist at the same receptor^{58, 59}. These challenges in resolving specificity greatly limit our understanding of neuroscience and the action of neuroactive molecules. Following from this, it is highly likely the newly synthesized amino acid like molecules also engage multiple receptors. Many of the molecules displayed biphasic effects on the phenotypes which is likely to be real given they were reproducible. Ideal follow up experiments to resolve the mechanism of target engagement probe the different components of fast C bend startle response circuit with molecular approaches such as electrophysiology^{30-32, 40-46, 48, 51}.

Experimental

Zebrafish Husbandry

Up to 10,000 fertilized zebrafish embryos were collected per day from group matings of wild-type zebrafish. Larvae were raised on a 14/10 h light/dark cycle at 28 °C until 7 dpf. Larvae were anesthetized with cold egg water and distributed into square 96-well plates. Plates were incubated at room temperature for 30 min for animals to become active. Molecule stock solutions were applied directly to the egg water, and larvae were incubated with the drug at room temperature for 30 minutes before behavioral analysis. The zebrafish-related procedures were conducted according to established protocols approved by UCSF's Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee (IACUC) and in accordance with the Guide to Care and Use of Laboratory Animals (National Institutes of Health 1996).

Molecules

Etomidate was dissolved in DMSO and diluted to the fish from 300X stock solutions for a final concentration of 0.3% final concentration of DMSO. DMSO was diluted accordingly for comparisons between drug treatments. DMSO did not produce any noticeable behavioral effects upon comparison to untreated fish (data not shown). DCS, HA-966, the amino acids, and SUDAA molecules were dissolved in water.

Fish Spectacles Source Code

The full open-source code and README documentation are available on GitHub. https://github.com/grantburley/SelloLab_Fish_Spectacles

References

- Michaelis, M., Schölkens, B., & Rudolphi, K. (2007). An anthology from Naunyn-Schmiedeberg's archives of pharmacology: O. Schaumann (1940) Über eine neue Klasse von Verbindungen mit spasmolytischer und zentral analgetischer Wirkung unter besonderer Berücksichtigung des 1-methyl-4-phenyl-piperidin-4-carbonsäure-äthylesters (Dolantin). Archiv f. experiment. Path. u. Pharmakol. 196: 109–136. *Naunyn-Schmiedeberg's archives of pharmacology*, *375*, 81-84.
- James, R., & Glen, J. B. (1980). Synthesis, biological evaluation, and preliminary structureactivity considerations of a series of alkylphenols as intravenous anesthetic agents. *Journal* of medicinal chemistry, 23(12), 1350-1357.
- Bencan, Z., Sledge, D. & Levin, E.D. Buspirone, chlordiazepoxide and diazepam effects in a zebrafish model of anxiety. Pharmacol. Biochem. Behav. 94, 75–80 (2009).
- López-Patiño, M.A., Yu, L., Cabral, H. & Zhdanova, I.V. Anxiogenic effects of cocaine withdrawal in zebrafish. Physiol. Behav. 93, 160–171 (2008).
- 5. Egan, R.J. et al. Understanding behavioral and physiological phenotypes of stress and anxiety in zebrafish. Behav. Brain Res. 205, 38–44 (2009).
- Giacomini, N.J., Rose, B., Kobayashi, K. & Guo, S. Antipsychotics produce locomotor impairment in larval zebrafish. Neurotoxicol. Teratol. 28, 245–250 (2006).
- Dinday, M. T., & Baraban, S. C. (2015). Large-scale phenotype-based antiepileptic drug screening in a zebrafish model of Dravet syndrome. *Eneuro*, 2(4).
- Howe, K., Clark, M. D., Torroja, C. F., Torrance, J., Berthelot, C., Muffato, M., ... & Teucke, M. (2013). The zebrafish reference genome sequence and its relationship to the human genome. *Nature*, 496(7446), 498-503.

- Mathur, P., & Guo, S. (2010). Use of zebrafish as a model to understand mechanisms of addiction and complex neurobehavioral phenotypes. *Neurobiology of disease*, 40(1), 66-72.
- McCarroll, M. N., Gendelev, L., Keiser, M. J., & Kokel, D. (2016). Leveraging largescale behavioral profiling in zebrafish to explore neuroactive polypharmacology. ACS chemical biology, 11(4), 842-849.
- Bruni, G., Rennekamp, A. J., Velenich, A., McCarroll, M., Gendelev, L., Fertsch, E., ...
 & Kokel, D. (2016). Zebrafish behavioral profiling identifies multitarget antipsychoticlike compounds. *Nature chemical biology*, *12*(7), 559-566.
- 12. Curtis, D. R., & Watkins, J. C. (1960). The excitation and depression of spinal neurones by structurally related amino acids. *Journal of neurochemistry*, *6*(2), 117-141.
- 13. Curtis, D. R., & Watkins, J. C. (1965). The pharmacology of amino acids related to gammaaminobutyric acid. *Pharmacological reviews*, *17*(4), 347-391.
- 14. Krogsgaard-Larsen, P., Honore, T., Hansen, J. J., Curtis, D. R., & Lodge, D. (1980). New class of glutamate agonist structurally related to ibotenic acid. *Nature*, *284*(5751), 64-66.
- 15. Shinozaki, H., & Shibuya, I. (1974). Potentiation of glutamate-induced depolarization by kainic acid in the crayfish opener muscle. *Neuropharmacology*, *13*(10-11), 1057-1065.
- 16. Lee, M. Y., Lin, Y. R., Tu, Y. S., Tseng, Y. J., Chan, M. H., & Chen, H. H. (2017). Effects of sarcosine and N, N-dimethylglycine on NMDA receptor-mediated excitatory field potentials. *Journal of Biomedical Science*, 24, 1-11.
- McCarroll, M. N., Gendelev, L., Kinser, R., Taylor, J., Bruni, G., Myers-Turnbull, D., ...
 & Kokel, D. (2019). Zebrafish behavioural profiling identifies GABA and serotonin

receptor ligands related to sedation and paradoxical excitation. *Nature communications*, *10*(1), 4078.

- Kupfermann, I., & Weiss, K. R. (1978). The command neuron concept. *Behavioral and Brain Sciences*, 1(1), 3-10.
- 19. Bartelmez, G. W. (1915). Mauthner's cell and the nucleus motorius tegmenti. *The Journal of comparative neurology*, *25*(1), 87-128.
- Bartelmez, G. W., & Hoerr, N. L. (1933). The vestibular club endings in Ameiurus. Further evidence on the morphology of the synapse. *Journal of Comparative Neurology*, 57(3), 401-428.
- 21. Graham, H. T., & O'Leary, J. L. (1941). FAST CENTRAL FIBERS IN FISH: PROPERTIES OF MAUTHNER AND MLLER FIBERS OF MEDULLOSPINAL SYSTEM. Journal of Neurophysiology, 4(3), 224-242.
- Diamond, J. (1971). The mauthner cell. In *Fish physiology* (Vol. 5, pp. 265-346).
 Academic Press.
- 23. Eaton, R. C., Bombardieri, R. A., & Meyer, D. L. (1977). The Mauthner-initiated startle response in teleost fish. *Journal of Experimental Biology*, *66*(1), 65-81.
- Furukawa, T., & Ishii, Y. (1967). Neurophysiological studies on hearing in goldfish. Journal of Neurophysiology, 30(6), 1377-1403.
- FURUKAWA, T. (1986). Sound reception and synaptic transmission in goldfish hair cells. *The Japanese Journal of Physiology*, *36*(6), 1059-1077.
- Platt, C. (1993). Zebrafish inner ear sensory surfaces are similar to those in goldfish. *Hearing research*, 65(1-2), 133-140.

- 27. Zheng, W., & Holt, J. R. (2021). The mechanosensory transduction machinery in inner ear hair cells. *Annual review of biophysics*, *50*(1), 31-51.
- 28. Fay, R. R. (1978). Coding of information in single auditory-nerve fibers of the goldfish. *The Journal of the Acoustical Society of America*, 63(1), 136-146.
- Fay, R. R. (1995). Physiology of primary saccular afferents of goldfish: implications for Mauthner cell response. *Brain, Behavior and Evolution*, 46(3), 141-150.
- Szabo, T. M., Weiss, S. A., Faber, D. S., & Preuss, T. (2006). Representation of auditory signals in the M-cell: role of electrical synapses. *Journal of neurophysiology*, 95(4), 2617-2629.
- 31. Curti, S., Gómez, L., Budelli, R., & Pereda, A. E. (2008). Subthreshold sodium current underlies essential functional specializations at primary auditory afferents. *Journal of neurophysiology*, 99(4), 1683-1699.
- Weiss, S. A., Preuss, T., & Faber, D. S. (2009). Phase Encoding in the Mauthner System: Implications in Left–Right Sound Source Discrimination. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 29(11), 3431-3441.
- 33. Korn, H., & Faber, D. S. (2005). The Mauthner cell half a century later: a neurobiological model for decision-making?. *Neuron*, 47(1), 13-28.
- 34. Koyama, M., Kinkhabwala, A., Satou, C., Higashijima, S. I., & Fetcho, J. (2011). Mapping a sensory-motor network onto a structural and functional ground plan in the hindbrain. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 108(3), 1170-1175.
- 35. Koyama, M., Minale, F., Shum, J., Nishimura, N., Schaffer, C. B., & Fetcho, J. R. (2016). A circuit motif in the zebrafish hindbrain for a two alternative behavioral choice to turn left or right. *Elife*, 5, e16808.

- Korn, H., & Faber, D. S. (1976). Vertebrate central nervous system: same neurons mediate both electrical and chemical inhibitions. *Science*, *194*(4270), 1166-1169.
- 37. Korn, H., Triller, A., & Faber, D. S. (1978). Structural correlates of recurrent collateral interneurons producing both electrical and chemical inhibitions of the Mauthner cell. *Proceedings of the Royal Society of London. Series B. Biological Sciences*, 202(1149), 533-538.
- 38. Faber, D. S., Fetcho, J. R., & Korn, H. (1989). Neuronal networks underlying the escape response in goldfish: General implications for motor control. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences*.
- Takahashi, M., Narushima, M., & Oda, Y. (2002). In vivo imaging of functional inhibitory networks on the mauthner cell of larval zebrafish. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 22(10), 3929-3938.
- 40. Szabo, T. M., Weiss, S. A., Faber, D. S., & Preuss, T. (2006). Representation of auditory signals in the M-cell: role of electrical synapses. *Journal of neurophysiology*, 95(4), 2617-2629.
- 41. Curti, S., Gómez, L., Budelli, R., & Pereda, A. E. (2008). Subthreshold sodium current underlies essential functional specializations at primary auditory afferents. *Journal of neurophysiology*, 99(4), 1683-1699.
- 42. Weiss, S. A., Preuss, T., & Faber, D. S. (2009). Phase Encoding in the Mauthner System: Implications in Left–Right Sound Source Discrimination. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 29(11), 3431-3441.
- 43. Yang, X. D., Korn, H., & Faber, D. S. (1990). Long-term potentiation of electrotonic coupling at mixed synapses. *Nature*, 348(6301), 542-545.

- 44. Yang, X. D., & Faber, D. S. (1991). Initial synaptic efficacy influences induction and expression of long-term changes in transmission. *Proceedings of the National Academy* of Sciences, 88(10), 4299-4303.
- 45. Korn, H., Oda, Y., & Faber, D. S. (1992). Long-term potentiation of inhibitory circuits and synapses in the central nervous system. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 89(1), 440-443.
- 46. Pereda, A. E., Nairn, A. C., Wolszon, L. R., & Faber, D. S. (1994). Postsynaptic modulation of synaptic efficacy at mixed synapses on the Mauthner cell. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 14(6), 3704-3712.
- 47. Wolman, M. A., Jain, R. A., Liss, L., & Granato, M. (2011). Chemical modulation of memory formation in larval zebrafish. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 108(37), 15468-15473.
- 48. Cachope, R., & Pereda, A. E. (2012). Two independent forms of activity-dependent potentiation regulate electrical transmission at mixed synapses on the Mauthner cell. *Brain research*, 1487, 173-182.
- 49. Nelson, J. C., Witze, E., Ma, Z., Ciocco, F., Frerotte, A., Randlett, O., ... & Granato, M. (2020). Acute regulation of habituation learning via posttranslational palmitoylation. *Current Biology*, *30*(14), 2729-2738.
- Medan, V., & Preuss, T. (2014). The Mauthner-cell circuit of fish as a model system for startle plasticity. *Journal of Physiology-Paris*, 108(2-3), 129-140.
- HA Burgess, M Granato, Sensorimotor gating in larval zebrafish. J Neurosci 27, 4984– 4994 (2007).

- 52. Hood, W.F., Compton, R.P., Monahan, J.B., (1989). d-cycloserine: a ligand for the Nmethyl-d-aspartate coupled glycine receptor has partial agonist characteristics. *Neuroscience Letters* 98, 91–95.
- 53. McBain, C.J., Kleckner, N.W., Wyrick, S., Dingledine, R., (1989). Structural requirements for activation of the glycine coagonist site of N-methyl-d-aspartate receptors expressed in Xenopus oocytes. *Molecular Pharmacology* 36, 556–565.
- 54. Priestley, T., & Kemp, J. A. (1994). Kinetic study of the interactions between the glutamate and glycine recognition sites on the N-methyl-D-aspartic acid receptor complex. *Molecular Pharmacology*, 46(6), 1191-1196.
- 55. Vartanian, M. G., & Taylor, C. P. (1991). Different stereoselectivity of the enantiomers of HA-966 (3-amino-1-hydroxy-2-pyrrolidinone) for neuroprotective and anticonvulsant actions in vivo. *Neuroscience letters*, *133*(1), 109-112.
- 56. Singh, L., Donald, A. E., Foster, A. C., Hutson, P. H., Iversen, L. L., Iversen, S. D., ... & Oles, R. A. (1990). Enantiomers of HA-966 (3-amino-1-hydroxypyrrolid-2-one) exhibit distinct central nervous system effects:(+)-HA-966 is a selective glycine/N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor antagonist, but (-)-HA-966 is a potent gamma-butyrolactone-like sedative. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 87(1), 347-351.
- 57. Watkins, J. C., & Jane, D. E. (2006). The glutamate story. *British journal of pharmacology*, *147*(S1), S100-S108.
- 58. Inanobe, A., Furukawa, H., & Gouaux, E. (2005). Mechanism of partial agonist action at the NR1 subunit of NMDA receptors. *Neuron*, 47(1), 71-84.
- Sheinin, A., Shavit, S., & Benveniste, M. (2001). Subunit specificity and mechanism of action of NMDA partial agonist D-cycloserine. *Neuropharmacology*, 41(2), 151-158.

Publishing Agreement

It is the policy of the University to encourage open access and broad distribution of all theses, dissertations, and manuscripts. The Graduate Division will facilitate the distribution of UCSF theses, dissertations, and manuscripts to the UCSF Library for open access and distribution. UCSF will make such theses, dissertations, and manuscripts accessible to the public and will take reasonable steps to preserve these works in perpetuity.

I hereby grant the non-exclusive, perpetual right to The Regents of the University of California to reproduce, publicly display, distribute, preserve, and publish copies of my thesis, dissertation, or manuscript in any form or media, now existing or later derived, including access online for teaching, research, and public service purposes.

—DocuSigned by: Grant Burley

-27E7EF955E2E4E1... Author S

Author Signature

12/14/2024

Date